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In last year’s annual report I conveyed 

to shareholders a real sense of 

excitement for the year ahead.  Now 

as I look back on the year, I can report 

that it was an exciting year, yet the 

immediate benefits of the economic 

minerals discovery that we all want to 

see on one of GCR’s properties have 

eluded us.

The most significant event of the year 

under review was the substantial 

improvement in the outlook for the 

mining sector which was evident in 

the second and third quarters of the 

year under review, and which was 

reflected in increasing metal prices and 

the prices of the shares of mining and 

exploration companies, both big and 

small.

I have reproduced some base metal 

and gold price charts here because 

they indicate that metal prices are still 

relatively high.  From this I conclude 

that the extent of the fall in the share 

prices of so many junior companies 

over the past 6 months is unjustified.

Admittedly the strength of the US 

dollar after a period of substantial 

weakening has influenced the US 

dollar prices.  I believe that the price 

rises were more a function of the 

outlook for growth in the emerging 

economies of China and India, and 

despite some caution appearing 

in these growth forecasts, their 

prospects appear bright.

Gold too has enjoyed a steady rise in 

US dollar terms, and remains at a most 

attractive price in Australian dollars, as 

the chart shows.

Many junior companies took advantage 

of the increased demand for the sector 

and raised new capital.  GCR was one 

of those, raising $1.5 million (before 

costs) in a placement at 7.7 cents per 

share in October 2003, and $2.1 million 

in a share purchase plan offer at 8 

cents per share in February 2004.

The funds raised allowed GCR to 

accelerate exploration on a number of 

its key prospects, with approximately 

27,000 m of drilling done during 

the year on GCR and joint venture 

properties.  GCR spent $1.5 million on 

exploration through the year.  At the 

end of June, there was $2.6 million 

cash remaining.

Looking to this year, there remains 

much to be done in pursuing the 

many excellent prospects in the GCR 

property portfolio.  We have high 

hopes for the outcome of the drilling of 

the Tip anomaly at Broken Hill and the 

gold prospects at Sunny Corner and 

Canbelego, to name but three.  This 

annual report and our website contain 

details of many of our properties.

While the focus remains on exploration 

in New South Wales, some executive 

time has been allocated to the 

identification and pursuit of other 

opportunities to add value to GCR.  

Our sense of optimism remains.  We 

have a highly prospective property 

portfolio.  Our people are first class 

at what they do.  We have sufficient 

funds to sustain our level of activity for 

the time being.

We are also optimistic that the market 

will recover some of the buoyancy lost 

in recent months.  The many juniors 

who raised capital last year are active 

in their exploration and the probability 

seems reasonable that one or more 

significant discoveries will be made 

which will delight the shareholders of 

the successful companies and excite 

the imagination of investors, generally.

Yours faithfully

Christopher Ryan

Chairman

Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders
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Dear Shareholder,
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The Company’s long-term objective is 

to participate in the discovery of one or 

more world class mineral deposits.

The short-term objective is to add value 

through exploration and development 

of mineral properties.

Value may be added through 

identifying and acquiring mineral 

properties in prospective locations, 

especially in old mining districts, 

generating drill targets through 

innovative modelling, delineating 

resources, entering into significant 

farm-in arrangements with other 

companies or developing projects 

through to the production stage to 

provide cash flow.

The Company seeks to balance the 

quest for significant shareholder 

rewards with the prudent management 

of downside risk.

On the reward upside, the Company is 

constantly searching for new mineral 

properties in prospective locations, 

such as new or proven mineral fields 

or geologically prospective terrane.  

Once a property is acquired, a detailed 

investigation is undertaken to ascertain 

its potential and whether the possible 

size and prospectivity of the mineral 

targets warrants sole funding by the 

Company or the sharing of funding by 

means of a farm-out.

Farm-outs are a tool used by the 

Company to manage downside risk, 

inherent in exploration, by sharing the 

exploration and development costs and 

the ownership of a project.  For a large 

copper-porphyry system, for instance, 

it may be good management to farm 

the property out to a major mining 

company that has the large sums of 

money required to undertake extensive 

drilling programmes and carry out any 

required development work on the 

project to bring it into production.  This 

may result in the Company holding a 

minority stake in a major mine without 

risk to GCR shareholders during the 

exploration and development phases. 

However, the minor share of a large 

porphyry copper-gold deposit worth 

billions of dollars would be a company 

maker for GCR. 

Expenditure on GCR properties during 

2004 demonstrates the risk-reward 

balance sought by the Company.

This year a considerable amount 

of drilling was undertaken on GCR 

properties.  An estimated 27,000 

m were completed of which 

approximately 11,000 m were 

undertaken by GCR.

Of the $2.8 million spent on GCR 

properties during 2004, $1.5 million 

was spent by GCR. In addition, 

approximately $1.0 million was spent 

on properties over which GCR holds 

royalties.
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Board of Directors:  from left, Daven Timms (Alternate Director to David Timms), Kerry McHugh, 
Chris Torrey, David Timms, Christopher Ryan

OBJECTIVES RISK AND REWARD

EXPLORATION ON GCR 
PROPERTIES DURING 2004
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from left: chimney at Sunny Corner, reviewing properties, drilling in the snow at Little Hill near Sunny Corner

Location : near Lithgow, NSW
Size : 147 sq km
Ownership : GCR 100%
Commodities : gold, silver, lead, zinc

Sunny Corner

Review of Exploration - GCR Managed

Sunny Corner was Australia’s 

richest silver mine until Broken Hill was 

discovered. The Sunny Corner Mining 

District produced approximately 3.5 

million oz of silver and 140,000 oz of 

gold.  Silver grades were exceptionally 

high, ranging from 600 g/t to 2,100 g/t.  

Grades of oxide ore mined reportedly 

averaged 1,000 g/t silver, 10% copper, 

20% zinc, 10% lead and 10 g/t gold. 

Records indicate that 250,000 tons of 

massive sulphide ore mined averaged 

800 g/t silver, 2% copper, 14% zinc, 

14% lead and 4 g/t gold.  

To the west and south of the old 

Sunny Corner mine are located three 

goldfields, Big Hill, Little Hill and 

Bob’s Creek which have an aggregate 

historic production of about 15,000 oz 

of gold.

This year GCR undertook a concerted 

campaign of geological mapping, 

geochemical sampling and drilling in 

the Sunny Corner Mine area.  A total 

of 4,090 m were drilled in 49 holes in 

order to evaluate the extent of high 

grade massive sulphide mineralisation.  

The work delineated a gently folded, 

mineralised horizon, with a true 

thickness of between 1 and 15 m.  It 

occurs at the contact between felsic 

volcanic rocks and overlying fine 

sediments.  A number of previously 

reported high grade intersections 

were encountered in the drilling.  For 

example, hole GSC-03 returned 14 m at 

16.4% lead+zinc, 0.7% copper, 3.5 g/t 

gold and 144 g/t silver from 22 m and 

hole GSC-36 returned 26 m at 16.9% 

lead+zinc, 1.2% copper, 0.42 g/t gold 

and 93 g/t silver from 46 m. 

Drilling indicates that mineralisation 

is limited in extent to the north, west 

and east by faulting and erosion.  The 

main area of potential is located in a 

downthrown fault block to the south 

of the old mine.  Limited drilling 

undertaken in this area indicates the 

presence of hydrothermally altered 

rocks similar to those around the mine.

Further to the south and west are 

the Bob’s Creek and Big Hill/Little Hill 

prospects where historically mined, 

gold-bearing quartz veins have a close 

spatial relationship to hydrothermally 

altered quartz-feldspar porphyry 

intrusions.  Both GCR and previous 

explorers have sampled rocks at these 

prospects which have returned very 

encouraging, locally high gold grades. 
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While high grade gold in quartz veins 

is important, GCR geologists have also 

noted the widespread occurrence of 

fine quartz vein stockworks both within 

intrusions and host sediments. Limited 

sampling of this style of mineralisation 

has returned values between 0.1 g/t 

and 2.5 g/t gold.  The extent of this 

style is unknown, but it is interpreted 

to surround higher grade veins within 

highly fractured sandstone and/or 

porphyry.  This presents GCR with a 

potential, near-surface, bulk tonnage 

target. 

Thirty-three shallow reverse circulation 

drill holes were completed at the Bob’s 

Creek, Big/Little Hill Prospects for a 

total of 1,432 m, specifically targeted 

at shallow, historic workings.  At Big 

Hill/Little Hill, drilling returned narrow, 

low grade intercepts.  In contrast, 

drilling at Bob’s Creek returned a 

number of broad, highly anomalous 

intersections detailed in the table 

below.  These are hosted within 

sulphide and quartz vein-bearing 

intrusive porphyry, close to old 

workings.

 Sunny Corner slag heap,  weathering sequence of massive sulphide rocks from Sunny Corner

Significant Drill Hole Intersections Sunny Corner

Hole No. MGA East 

(m)

MGA North 

(m)

From 

(m)

Interval 

(m)

Copper 

(%)

Lead 

(%)

Zinc 

(%)

Gold 

(g/t)

Silver 

(g/t)
GSC-03 769240 6303045 22 14 0.7 6 10.4 3.50 144

Incl 22 6 0.3 3.5 5.9 7.85 254
GSC-05 769303 6303050 28 14 0.7 2.9 6.2 0.07 23

Incl 30 6 1.4 5.3 11.8 0.13 47
GSC-06 769349 6303030 10 36 0.7 1.8 4.7 0.13 37

Incl 18 4 1 7.3 21.4 0.17 83
GSC-19 769261 6303044 36 6 0.6 4.1 9.3 0.12 45
GSC-25 769261 6302986 19 9 0.9 6.2 7.6 0.07 38

Incl 20 4 1.2 7.7 12.2 0.06 47
GSC-36 769172 6303050 46 26 1.2 5.9 12 0.42 93

Incl 46 10 1.7 10.8 18.6 1.00 177

Sunny Corner regional geology

Sunny Corner continued...

volcanic rock
porphyry
historic workings

0 5km

Siluro - Devonian  sediments granite

Permian  
sediments

Ordovician sediments

historic
production
14000 oz

Au historic
production
1400 oz Au

Big Hill
Little Hill

Bob’s Ck

Silver 
King

Stella

Bulldog
Nevada Mine

Dark Corner

Daylight Ck
alluvials

Mitchell’s Ck
alluvials

Au

Au

110 tons copper

GCR tenement

Au

Au
Fe

Tennysons
Reef

9.77 g/t Au,
10.2 g/t Au,
7.2 g/t Au,
2.2 g/t Au

GCR rock chips

6.0% Pb, 6.6% Zn
1.85 g/t Au, 245 g/t Ag

6.6 g/t Au rock chip

Paddy Lackey

St George Reef
1200 oz Au

700 oz Au

9.47 g/t Au, 
26.3 g/t Au

GCR rock chips

historic production
3.5 million oz Silver

Sunny Corner

GSC-42 5m @ 0.8% Cu

1.0 g/t Au, 177 g/t Ag

Recent GCR drilling
GSC-36 10m @ 1.7% Cu, 
10.8% Pb, 18.6% Zn

strong copper 
anomaly in 
streams 
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Significant Drill Hole Intersections Bob’s Creek

Hole No MGA 
East
(m)

MGA 
North
(m)

From
 

(m)

Interval

(m)

Gold 

(g/t)
BCRC05 768023 6302334 2 22 0.21
BCRC06 768068 6302345 0 10 0.36
BCRC08 768153 6302437 0 12 0.32

The Bob’s Creek drill holes are located 

within or on the margin of a large gold-

in-soil anomaly almost 400 m long and 

100 m wide, oriented to the northeast.  

The peak of the anomaly lies about 

100 m to the west of hole BCRC05 

and remains untested.

This preliminary test at Bob’s Creek 

has been encouraging as it clearly 

indicates the occurrence of anomalous 

gold mineralisation in the intrusive 

rocks.  In addition, the soil anomaly 

suggests mineralisation may be 

widespread and not necessarily 

associated with old workings.  

Systematic drilling of the intrusive 

porphyry will be required to further 

assess the prospect.  GCR intends to 

initiate follow-up work immediately.

Sunny Corner interpreted cross section 6303050N

Bob’s Creek soil anomalies & drilling

drilling at Bob’s Creek

Sunny Corner continued...

BCRC-2

10m @ 0.32 g/t Au

2m @ 1.43 g/t Au

22m @ 0.21 g/t Au

12m @ 0.32 g/t Au

BCRC-9
BCRC-10

BCRC-1

BCRC-4

BCRC-3

BCRC-5

BCRC-7

BCRC-8

BCRC-6

500 ppb Au
soil contours

100 ppb Au
50 ppb Au

historic workings

drill hole

0 100m

3
1436

4248

carbonaceous
siltstone

west east

silty  chert

4
19 5

6m @ 0.6% Cu
4.1% Pb, 9.3% Zn
0.12 g/t Au, 45 g/t Ag

0 20m

26m @ 1.2% Cu
5.9% Pb, 12% Zn
0.42 g/t Au, 93 g/t Ag

10m @ 1.7% Cu
10.8% Pb, 18.6% Zn
1.0 g/t Au, 177 g/t Ag

18m @ 0.6% Cu
1.6% Pb, 5.4% Zn
0.14 g/t Au, 34 g/t Ag

No.2
open cut

5m @ 0.8% Cu
6.0% Pb, 6.6% Zn
1.85 g/t Au, 245 g/t Ag

massive sulphide mineralisation

drilling intersection

old workings

fault

coarse  volcanic  tuff

10m @ 0.2% Cu
0.8% Pb, 1.6% Zn

14m @ 0.7% Cu
2.9% Pb, 6.2% Zn14m @ 0.7% Cu

6% Pb, 10.4% Zn
3.5 g/t Au, 144 g/t Ag
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Canbelego/
Pipeline

Location : 45 km east of Cobar, NSW
Size : 216 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR
Commodities : gold, base metals

drilling at Birthday prospect, near Canbelego

Canbelego longitudinal section
?

10m @ 0.61 g/t Au

3m @ 0.65 g/t Au

9m @ 6.0 g/t Au

6m @ 2.39 g/t Au
6m @ 1.46 g/t Au

4m @ 0.98 g/t Au

29m @ 0.71 g/t Au

12m @ 5.03 g/t Au

3.5m @ 1.32 g/t Au

12m @ 0.1 g/t Au

5m @ 7.75 g/t Au

south north

0 100m

approx. extent of existing open pittailings  dam
Mt Boppy gold mine

GCR

unconformity

POLYMETALS

projected keel of syncline

old stopes

drill hole piercement point

20m @ 7.73 g/t Au

6m @ 6.26 g/t Au

proposed extension to 
open pit

26m @ 6.68 g/t Au
incl. 1m @ 21.2 Au 

2m @ 59.1 Au
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The northern part of EL 5842 was 

subject to a farm-in agreement 

between Polymetals and GCR, which 

provided that Polymetals had the right 

to apply for a Mining Lease over such 

portion of EL 5842 that contained 

open-pittable resources of gold or 

silver delineated as a result of drilling 

by Polymetals under the agreement.  

Polymetals has advised that it has 

delineated a small resource at Mt 

Boppy South (not defined to JORC 

standards) on the basis of which it has 

applied for a mining lease considerably 

larger in size than would be justified 

by the size and aerial extent of the 

resource delineated.

As the application was not authorised 

by the farm-in agreement, GCR advised 

Polymetals that it will not be giving 

its consent under Section 58 of the 

Mining Act to the grant of a mining 

lease under the application.  The NSW 

Department of Primary Industries 

- Minerals has been notified of this 

decision.  The results from Polymetals 

drilling, within GCR ground have been 

previously reported and are shown on 

the diagrams below.  These include 

two intersections immediately to the 

south of the Polymetals Leases of 9 

m at 6 g/t gold and 12 m at 5 g/t gold.  

Polymetals currently mines gold from 

a small open pit within its central lease 

area.

It is now GCR’s intention to proceed 

with exploration in its own right.  At 

the time of writing GCR had initiated 

a  programme of drilling at Mt Boppy 

South and Birthday prospects where 

the structural and stratigraphic 

settings are similar to the Mt Boppy 

gold mine.  Historic grades from the 

Birthday workings averaged 38 g/t 

gold. GCR has also planned a gradient 

array induced polarisation geophysical 

survey to assist with mapping of 

sulphide and silica-rich zones that 

potentially host gold mineralisation.

The historic Mt Boppy Gold Mine 

produced about 1 million tonnes of 

ore at an average grade of 12 g/t gold.  

Gold is hosted in low temperature 

fine grained, cherty quartz veins and 

vein breccias at the tightly folded 

unconformable contact between 

older metamorphosed sediments of 

the Girilambone group and younger 

sediments of the Baledmund 

Formation.  These are overlain by 

felsic volcanic rocks.  This prospective 

contact zone is exposed in the 

Canbelego area, where it is tightly 

folded, and plunges to the south.  Best 

mineralisation is thought to occur in 

dilatant zones where the contact is 

also intersected by large through-going 

faults.

GCR considers these geological 

features to be highly conducive to the 

discovery of further occurrences of 

Mt Boppy-like deposits (approximately 

500,000 oz gold).

Canbelego geology showing areas of planned GCR drilling & results from Polymetals’ recent drilling.

Canbelego, continued...

headframe at Cobar

historic grade
38 g/t Au

areas of planned
GCR drilling

130 oz Au

to Cobar 48km

CANBELEGO
TOWNSHIP

Birthday

Canbelego King

Wealth of
Nations

Anticline
Prospect

Hoffnungs

Mt Boppy West

felsic   volcanic   rocks

Girilambone   sediments

0 500m

Polymetals
leases

(Polymetals)
current open pit

Mt Boppy
South

historic production
1 Mt at 12 g/t Au

Mt Boppy Lode

5m @ 4.9 g/t Au
6m @ 3.6 g/t Au
3m @ 8.6 g/t Au

  4m @ 5.0 g/t Au
  2m @ 5.4 g/t Au
10m @ 2.8 g/t Au

recent Polymetals drill intercepts

prospective gold-bearing 
horizon  (Baledmund Fm)

historic gold workings / mines

geological structure

gold mineralisation

Reid-Rankins

10km

Canbelego

GCR EL 5842

rock chip 15 g/t Au

6m @ 2.4 g/t Au
6m @ 1.5 g/t Au
4m @ 1.0 g/t Au

  9m @ 6.0 g/t Au
12m @ 5.0 g/t Au

recent Polymetals drill intercepts
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Parkes-Trewilga Location : near Parkes & Forbes, NSW
Size : 310 sq km
Ownership :  Portion of Parkes subject to a 1% nsr royalty to Sipa and 
Michelago. Trewilga subject to 2% nsr royalty to Elephant Mines
Commodities: gold, copper

The Parkes and Trewilga licences lie 

within the Forbes-Tomingley Goldfield 

which had an historic production in 

excess of 1 million oz of gold.  The 

London-Victoria open pit gold mine, 

which was mined in the 1980s lies 

within the Parkes licence (but excluded 

from GCR tenure) and produced about 

145,000 oz of gold.  Numerous gold 

prospects occur throughout both 

licences and are commonly located in 

fault zones at the contacts between 

volcanic and sedimentary rocks.  This 

setting is identical to that which hosts 

Alkane’s discovery, Wyoming One 

about 14 km north of Peak Hill.

GCR has recently completed a 

preliminary four hole programme of 

drilling at the Wattlegrove Prospect 

and 1 hole at the Grovedale Prospect in 

the Parkes licence and 11 holes in the 

Trewilga licence.  At Wattlegrove, hole 

WRC-1 returned a broad zone of highly 

anomalous gold (51 m at 0.25 g/t gold 

from 54 m, including 3 m at 1.6 g/t 

gold from 76 m)  at the contact 

between volcanic and sedimentary 

rocks.  A shallow hole on the same 

section intersected 39 m at 0.3 g/t gold 

from 9 m.  At Trewilga, GCR 

encountered 39 m at 0.44 g/t gold from 

6 m in hole TAC-2 during follow-up of 

historic aircore drilling.  This includes 

6 m at 1.11 g/t gold from 33 m.  At this 

time, because of the limited extent of 

drilling, the orientation and extent of 

these broad zones of mineralisation 

are unknown.  GCR is encouraged by 

this work especially in light of initial 

geological findings that the mineralised 

setting is similar to the discovery at 

Wyoming One.  Follow-up drilling is 

expected to take place later in 2004. Parkes - Trewilga geology & prospects

volcanic rocks

sedimentary rocks

PA
R

KE
S

  
TH

RU
ST

  Z
O

N
E

Parkes
0 10km

Wattlegrove

Grovedale

Tomingley

Oxide Mined: 
4.88Mt @ 1.56 g/t Au
Sulphide Resource:  
11.3Mt @ 1.29 g/t Au

Peak Hill (Alkane)

Alectown
(Au)

Wyoming One (Alkane)

Mined approx. 
3Mt @ 1.5 g/t Au
(145,000 oz gold)

London Victoria
(Westlime)

Resource: 
512,000t @ 2.15 g/t Au
(35,400 oz gold) 

Calarie (Tri Origin)

51m @ 0.25 g/t Au 
from 54m
incl. 12m @ 0.46 g/t Au 
from 75m

Drill hole WRC-1

38m @ 0.44 g/t Au
Drill hole TAC-2 TREWILGA

prospect

historic mine, resource

line of lode

Historic Production
65,000 oz Gold

McPhails Mine
(GCR owned)

PARKES

Fault

GCR tenement

Forbes

4.5 Mt @ 2.83 g/t Au
(410,225 ozs gold)

Total Resource:



Copper Hill, like Cadia and Cargo, 

was recognised as a porphyry copper 

prospect over 30 years ago at the 

time of development of the large 

porphyry copper deposits in the 

southwest of the United States.  The 

property hosts a number of large, 

elongate igneous bodies that intrude 

into volcanic rocks.  Copper and gold 

mineralisation is hosted in the intrusive 

rocks and a number of encouraging 

drill intersections have been obtained 

by previous explorers.  The best 

intersection in the main mineralised 

zone was hole CHRC-058, which 

intersected 217 m at 1.67 g/t gold 

and 0.72% copper.  Outside the main 

zone, hole NCH019 intersected 157 m 

at 0.78 g/t gold and 0.4% copper with 

sub-intervals of 26 m at 1.28 g/t gold 

and 0.65% copper, and 38m at 1.14 g/t 

gold and 0.44% copper.

Mineralisation in the main Copper Hill 

prospect occurs in a zone some 

300 m long and 50 m wide and has 

been extensively drill tested to about 

150 m below surface.  Significant 

further potential exists within the 

remainder of the tenement package 

which GCR considers has been 

overlooked in favour of exploration 

of the main Copper Hill zone.  Key 

structural corridors, geochemical 

anomalies, isolated drill hole 

intersections and magnetic anomalies 

remain untested.  Similarly, there has 

been no systematic evaluation of 

mapped intrusive rocks in the south.

Copper Hill is believed to have been 

the first copper mine in New South 

Wales, with sporadic production taking 

place from 1845 to 1931.  From 1845 

to 1851 a total of 3,300 metric tonnes 

of ore averaging 1.4% copper was 

mined from the enriched supergene 

zone.  Gold was first recorded in 

1851 when 14 tons were mined at an 

average grade of 6.12 g/t gold.
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Copper Hill
Location : 10 km north of Molong, NSW
Size : 95 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR.
Commodities : gold, copper

Copper Hill: potential targets on regional magnetics
0 2km
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NW trend
untested

CHRC58
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Main Mineralised Zone
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Little Copper Hill Skarn
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This property extends along the 

Gilmore Suture, south of Junee and 

hosts a number of copper and gold 

prospects.  One of the most promising 

is Kurrajong Prospect where 3 historic 

RAB holes located copper-gold 

mineralisation.  One of these holes 

intersected 24 m at 0.23 g/t gold, 

and the other 8 m at 1.25% copper 

and 0.11 g/t gold. Limited follow-

up historical RC drilling confirmed 

significant mineralisation, with one 

hole intersecting 78 m at 0.23 g/t gold 

and 33 m of 0.84% copper.

During 2004 GCR undertook two 

aircore drilling programmes to assess 

the extent of mineralisation.  Results 

were promising, with widespread 

gold and copper mineralisation being 

encountered.  Significant intersections 

include 38 m at 0.48 g/t gold in hole 

18 and 3 m at 0.65% copper in the 

bottom of hole 17.  GCR’s work has 

identified mineralisation over a strike 

length of 1,500 m in a zone 250 m to 

500 m wide.

GCR’s mineralographic studies suggest 

hydrothermal alteration is widespread 

and intense, and both porphyry 

copper-gold and high sulphidation gold 

styles are recognised.  Copper and 

molybdenum sulphide minerals have 

been identified.

Kurrajong is one of several 

prospects lying within a 4 - 5 km 

long structural corridor containing 

coincident anomalous geochemistry, 

mineralisation and alteration. This 

corridor has potential to host 

significant gold and copper resources.

The Gidginbung Deposit located on 

the Suture approximately 100 km north 

is a high sulphidation gold deposit 

which produced 450,000 oz of gold 

in the 1980s.  Similarly, the recently 

acquired Dobroyde Prospect, 20 km 

to the north, also represents a high 

sulphidation gold system.  Further 

north along the Gilmore Suture, 

porphyry copper-gold mineralisation 

has been identified at the Dam, 

Mandamah, Yiddah North and Marsden 

prospects.

GCR plans to undertake induced 

polarisation geophysical surveys 

to define the extent of sub-surface 

sulphide minerals within alteration 

zones prior to drilling in the December 

quarter.

Eurongilly Location : 20 km South-east of Junee, NSW
Size : 104 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR.
Commodities : gold, copper

South Gilmore Properties

Eurongilly - Dobroyde geology
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South Gilmore properties

Intensive exploration including 

geophysical interpretation and drilling, 

indicates a highly sheared zone of 

volcanic and intrusive rocks on the 

eastern side of the tenement.  Past 

farm-in partners have focussed on 

this zone and Newcrest discovered 

porphyry style copper-gold 

mineralisation hosted within typical 

porphyry quartz-magnetite veins at 

the Yiddah North prospect.  However, 

the extent of these vein systems is 

limited by extensive shearing and 

dismemberment close to the main 

strand of Gilmore Suture.

In contrast, the western side of the 

tenement is poorly explored, and 

GCR’s work suggests it is less affected 

by shearing and metamorphic overprint 

and therefore, mineralised systems in 

this area are more likely to be intact.  

GCR has commenced a programme 

of exploration to follow-up isolated; 

gold-anomalous, aircore holes drilled 

by GCR in 1997 which have received 

no attention since they were drilled.  

An example is Hole WWAC239 which 

returned 3 m at 0.6 g/t gold from 30 m 

near the bottom of the hole in highly 

altered kaolinitic material.  It is located 

in a discrete magnetic anomaly and the 

closest hole to this lies 650 m to the 

north.

Drill testing of a magnetic feature 

to the north of the town of West 

Wyalong is planned.  This feature 

exhibits dendritic patterns typical of 

those found in old, buried stream 

beds (paleochannels).  The head 

of this particular paleochannel is 

located immediately north of the West 

Wyalong Goldfield which produced 

almost 500,000 oz of gold in the late 

1800s.  Unlike other goldfields, the 

West Wyalong vein deposits were 

not discovered by pursuing alluvial 

deposits upstream.  In fact, there are 

no known alluvial occurrences in the 

West Wyalong area, possibly because 

drainage channels may have been 

buried by subsequent fluvial and soil 

forming processes.  The magnetic 

data clearly shows what is potentially 

a gold-bearing channel apparently 

sourced from West Wyalong.

West Wyalong
Location : near West Wyalong, NSW

Size :  231 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR, subject to 2.5% nsr royalty to Barrick

Commodities : gold, copper
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The Adelong Gold Project includes 

ML1435, and 4 ELs in the surrounding 

district. Within the ML, GCR has 

focussed on the Challenger prospect. 

GCR is presently looking for a farm-in 

partner to supply the necessary funds 

to take the project to production for an 

estimated $2.8 million capital cost.

This year a revised feasibility study 

focussed on the recovery of gold 

using flotation followed by intense 

cyanidation of the concentrate.  The 

flotation-leach process is very cost-

effective and provides a high gold 

recovery from a small amount of 

concentrate.  Pyrite content of the ore 

is low and gold liberates cleanly at a 

relatively coarse grind size.

The revised process and a simple 

bulk milling approach has potential to 

reduce capital cost and project risk.  

Other benefits are the elimination of 

a large tailings dam, with the process 

now providing a potentially saleable 

clean sand.  Metallurgical testwork

indicates that a high recovery, low 

yield, high grade gold concentrate 

is achievable.  Total gold recovery is 

expected to be optimised at near 95%.

The feasibility study indicates a $6.3 

million operating surplus at A$560 

gold price with a payback period of 15 

months and a mine life of 30 months.

The recent drilling programme of the 

old gold reefs within the Adelong 

ML produced several near surface 

intersections of 2 to 10 g/t gold values.

Within the surrounding ELs the Big Ben 

prospect near Gundagai approximately 

20 km northeast of Adelong, produced 

near surface intersections in two holes 

80 m apart of 8 m of 3.21 g/t gold from 

16 m and 6 m of 3.07 g/t gold from 

26 m.  If this prospect can produce a 

mineable resource it may be truckable 

to Adelong for processing.

Adelong
Location : near Tumut, NSW
Size :  192 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR
Commodities : gold

Best results: 2004 drilling Adelong

Gold Reef Hole No. Easting 
(m)

Northing 
(m)

From 
(m)

Intercept 
(m)

Gold 
(g/t)

Victoria East GRC048 596713 6093250 2 4 2.59

and 48 2 1.98

GRC049 596674 6093364 18 2 3.34

Victoria East GRC067 596742 6093250 42 4 2.30

and 86 2 10.35

Victoria GRC050 596605 6093160 24 4 2.29

and 78 2 2.19

Rocky GRC052 596378 6093250 40 2 3.35

Currajong GRC054 596270 6094210 32 8 2.42

Incl fire assay assay check 32 2 10.11

GRC055 596272 6094280 32 2 2.53

GRC060 596200 6094300 118 2 4.12

GRC061 596195 6094200 122 4 0.95

On 19 May 2004, GCR announced to 

ASX the acquisition of the Dobroyde 

gold property from Newcrest 

Operations Limited in consideration 

of the payment of $1.00, a $100,000 

exploration expenditure commitment 

over 3 years, a royalty obligation, and a 

buy-back right.

The Dobroyde property comprises EL 

5832 which is located on the Gilmore 

Suture near Junee in NSW.  It lies 

20 km to the north of the Kurrajong 

Prospect.

Under the agreement GCR must spend 

$100,000 on exploration on the 

property within three years, including 

$40,000 in the first year.  The royalty 

payable to Newcrest is 3% net smelter 

return on the first 150,000 oz of gold 

produced and thereafter 4% net 

smelter return.  Once GCR spends 

at least $2 million on exploring areas 

outside the known gold resource, 

Newcrest has the right to buy back 

a 60% interest in the property in 

consideration of reimbursement of 

three times Newcrest’s share of 

expenditure.  If this buy-back right is 

exercised, the royalty obligation would 

cease.  Newcrest also holds a pre-

emptive right under the agreement.

Location : 12 km north-east of Junee, NSW
Size : 17 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR. Newcrest retain a royalty.
Commodities : gold

Dobroyde

drilling at Adelong

South Gilmore, continued...
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In view of the recent increases in 

the price of silver, lead and zinc, a 

representative sample of the McCarron 

sulphide zone has been selected for 

metallurgical tests by Intec Ltd.  Intec’s 

metallurgical process has achieved 

high recoveries of 95%, 99% and 

99% on silver, lead and zinc sulphides 

respectively for Hellyer tailings treated 

in Tasmania.  Similar recoveries at 

Kempfield would have a significant 

impact on the viability of the project.

The intention is to determine if the new 

technique can improve the recoveries 

of the metals, particularly silver from 

primary ore.  Previous metallurgical 

work has indicated that the silver 

in oxide ore leached well and could 

support a small economically viable 

operation.

A one tonne sample of barite was 

collected from the Hill zone and 

transported to the Gekko Laboratories 

for sizing and concentration to 

determine if a suitable product can be 

produced by gravity concentration for 

sale as an oil drilling mud.

Kempfield
Location : near Blayney, NSW
Size :  120 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR.
Commodities : silver, barite, lead, zinc, gold

GCR has three properties, all in 

NSW, subject to farm-ins by mining 

and exploration companies who are 

either drilling or actively exploring the 

properties.

As at July 2004 GCR held 4,317 sq km 

of exploration ground under tenure, 

application or subject to agreements.  

This compares with 5,557 sq km last 

year.  Of this, 30% is managed and 

funded by farm-in partners.  This 

compares to 28% last year.  These 

figures reflect the consolidation and 

reduction of GCR tenure as exploration 

has advanced.

Review of Exploration - Farm-ins

Property Party Farming - In Total Spend 

($M)

To Earn Earn-in Date

Broken Hill Sipa 8.5 and BFS* 70 02.05.2008

Cargo Falcon 3.0 70 03.12.2007

Yellow Mountain. Triako# 1.3 70 19.10.2005

*Bankable Feasibility Study  #Has earned 51%.

from left: on-site examination of drill chips, mapping at Pipeline Ridge 
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Broken Hill Location : near Broken Hill, NSW
Size :  507 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR. Sipa (manager) may complete a bankable 
feasibility study by 2.5.2008 to earn 70%.
Commodities : platinum group metals, gold, copper

During 2004 both joint venture 

partners, GCap and Sipa conducted 

extensive exploration on GCR ground.  

This work included drilling 2,298 m in 

10 RC holes and 4,132 m in 357 RAB 

holes that mainly targeted specific 

gravity anomalies delineated by the 

FalconTM airborne gravity survey flown 

in 2001.  Results of the combined 

programmes have been encouraging.  

On 18 March, 2004 GCap reported that 

drilling at the  Avondale 1 anomaly had 

intersected a large, zoned ultramafic 

intrusion which contains strongly 

anomalous platinum (up to 78 ppb) and 

palladium (up to 44 ppb) in zones not 

associated with copper mineralisation.  

One hole also returned 2 m at 0.36% 

copper and 245 ppm nickel at the 

bottom of the hole.  Given that much 

smaller intrusions to the north at Mulga 

Springs are associated with high grade 

copper, nickel and platinum group 

elements this discovery beneath cover 

is highly promising.  GCR intersected 

2 m of 4.45% nickel, 6.12% copper, 

10.91 ppm platinum  and 22.63 ppm 

palladium at Mulga Springs in 2001.

The FalconTM gravity survey also 

delineated a discrete gravity anomaly 

on EL 6109 known as the Tip Anomaly.  

This lies about 1.6 km immediately 

west of the famous Broken Hill ore 

body.  It is located west of the Globe 

Vauxhall Fault where a folded or faulted 

repetition of the Broken Hill mine 

sequence may occur.  GCap attempted 

to test this anomaly with four relatively 

shallow RC holes, but results failed 

to explain the source of the anomaly.  

GCR considers the anomaly may 

represent a significant, iron oxide 

and/or sulphide-rich ore body at depth.  

The consensus of the joint venture 

partners (including GCR), is that this 

will require deep drilling to adequately 

test.  An initial 600 m deep diamond 

hole is planned.
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Sipa’s exploration focussed on the 

discovery of copper-nickel-platinum-

group-elements at the Little Broken 

Hill Gabbro with a number of RAB 

holes showing local enrichment of 

platinum-group-elements (to 459 ppm 

platinum+palladium), nickel (825 ppm) 

and copper (750 ppm).  Sipa assessed 

several gravity anomalies not selected 

by GCap.  Most of the anomalies 

beneath cover were explained by 

the occurrence of amphibolite 

which is not normally considered 

to be prospective in the district.  At 

one anomaly however a number 

of RAB holes returned anomalous 

platinum-group-elements (to 60 ppb 

platinum+palladium) and gold (to 123 

ppb).  Follow-up RAB holes confirmed 

anomalous platinum-group-elements 

but not gold.  

On 31 August 2004, GCR announced 

that GCap had withdrawn from 

the joint venture.  Sipa now has 

the opportunity to assess gravity 

targets such as the Tip and Avondale 

anomalies.

The GCR tenement package is located 

in one of the world’s great minerals 

provinces, mostly within 25 km of 

Broken Hill.  The Broken Hill Main 

Lode  produced 279 million tonnes of 

ore grading 2.5 - 15% lead, 5 - 20% 

zinc and 20 - 300 g/t silver. In the 

110 year old history of mining total 

metal production has been estimated 

to be worth about $70 billion.  New 

innovative mining techniques and 

technologies have ensured that 

production continues.  To date a similar 

orebody has not been found in the 

district.  GCR has high hopes that the 

drilling of the Tip Anomaly will break 

the discovery “drought” in the district. 

This year Triako Resources Limited 

has undertaken a comprehensive 

exploration programme focussed on 

the large Melrose magnetic anomaly. 

(See diagram on following page)  

The Fountaindale prospect, defined 

by Triako’s drilling, is hosted within 

a hydrothermally altered intrusive 

granodiorite rock under up to 50 m 

of cover.  The granodiorite occupies 

a small (500 m diameter) circular 

magnetic low within the much larger 

Melrose anomaly which is over 10 km 

long.

Work has included 7,234 m of drilling, 

conducted in 2 phases of aircore 

drilling followed by RCP and diamond 

drilling which has delineated a discrete 

zone of gold mineralisation 600 m long 

and 250 m wide.   Drill intercepts are 

relatively narrow but locally high grade.  

For example, in TYMD003 a zone of 

quartz veins returned 0.8 m at 9.05 g/t 

gold and in TYMD004, 0.7 m at 12 g/t 

gold.

Fountaindale is a new discovery in 

a geological district which is largely 

covered by alluvium and soils. Work 

by Triako has shown that there is 

considerable potential to locate 

intrusion-hosted gold deposits within 

the Melrose anomaly and adjacent 

rocks.  Triako plans to continue 

exploration and will undertake more 

aircore drilling at Fountaindale and 

across other parts of the Melrose 

magnetic anomaly.  It also intends to 

test an induced polarisation anomaly at 

the Quarry Hill prospect and complete 

a deep RCP hole at the Claytons 

Dam prospect.  These both lie in the 

northern part of the Melrose anomaly 

and were the original focus of GCR 

work.

Yellow Mountain Location : north of Condobolin, NSW
Size :  345 sq km
Ownership : 49% GCR 51% Triako. Triako (manager) may earn a 70% 
interest by spending a total of $1.3M by 19.10.2005.  GCR holds s 2% nsr 
royalty over EL5721.
Commodities : gold, silver, base metals

from left,  discussing work on properties,  exploring in the Cobar area.

Broken Hill, continued...



16 GOLDEN CROSS RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2004

Cargo is hosted in rocks of similar 

character and age to the large Cadia-

Ridgeway gold deposit located 12 km 

due east.  Like Cadia-Ridgeway, felsic 

rocks intrude a volcano-sedimentary 

sequence of intermediate composition.  

Cargo was the site of historical gold 

mining and has been explored as a 

porphyry copper-gold system since 

the 1970s.  GCR has had 3 joint 

venture partners operating at least one 

licence in the area, each with different 

approaches and target concepts.

The current operator, Falcon Minerals 

Limited this year completed 3 deep RC 

holes within the Belubula tenement 

to test magnetic targets.  While the 

holes encountered broad zones of 

magnetite-bearing volcanic rocks, 

no significant mineralisation was 

encountered.

Cargo Location : near Orange, NSW
Size :  483 sq km
Ownership : 100% GCR. Falcon (manager) may spend $3M by 3.12.2007 to 
earn 70%
Commodities : gold, copper

Yellow Mountain:  Fountaindale prospect:  
anomalous metal zones

Yellow Mountain, continued...
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On 11 August 2004, Alkane announced 

to ASX, resource figures for the 

Tomingley Gold Deposits of 6.38 

million tonnes at 2.43 g/t gold using 

a 0.75 g/t gold cut off grade.  Pre-

feasilbility studies continue and 

Alkane has determined that a base 

case model of a one million tonne per 

annum operation can produce positive 

operating cash flows.  The studies 

shows however that improved financial 

returns will require additional open 

pittable ore.

Drilling is planned by Alkane at 

Wyoming One to target higher grade 

zones.  Initial drilling at the McLeans 

Prospect has identified mineralisation 

over at least 1 km. The northern zone 

appears to be an extension of the 

historic Myalls United mine where two 

high grade veins have been mined. 

Results include: Hole MCP038: 4 m 

at 3.68 g/t gold from 83 m and Hole 

MCP053: 33m at 0.54 g/t gold from 

30 m.

Further drilling will continue to evaluate 

its potential to host open pittable 

resources. 

At Bright Star, RC drilling carried 

out by A1 Minerals has confirmed 

the presence of high grade gold 

mineralisation at depth.  

Results include 2 m at 34.9 g/t gold 

from 212 m, 4 m at 13 g/t gold from 

166 m, 6 m at 6.3 g/t gold from 169 

m and 6 m at 6.1 g/t gold from 202 

m. Deep diamond holes are being 

drilled to further test the down plunge 

extensions of the mineralisation

GCR holds a 2% gross royalty on its 

formerly held Laverton property, which 

previously produced gold intersections 

of up to 6 m at 17.69 g/t gold.  

Laverton Location : Laverton, WA
Size :  25 sq km
Ownership : GCR 2% gross royalty.
Commodities : gold

Royalties held by GCR

McPhails Location : near Peak Hill, NSW
Size :  1 sq km
Ownership : GCR holds area of old mining lease 100% and a sliding-scale 
royalty of up to 5% nsr on the remainder of the exploration licence.  10% 
of the royalty is payable to Metallic Resources Pty Ltd.
Commodities : gold

McPhails geology: with mineralisation zones
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The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Golden Cross Resources Ltd (“GCR”) and the entities it 
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2004.

DIRECTORS

The following persons were Directors of GCR during the financial year and up to the date of this report:

Christopher Ryan
David Timms
Kerry McHugh
Chris Torrey
Daven Timms (Alternate Director for David Timms)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity during the year consisted of minerals exploration and development 
of precious and base metals projects in NSW.  There were no significant changes in the nature of activities during the year.

OBJECTIVE

The Company’s long-term objective is to participate in the discovery of one or more world class mineral deposits.  The short-term 
objective is to add value through exploration and development of mineral properties.  Value may be added through identifying 
and acquiring mineral properties in prospective locations, generating drill targets through innovative modelling, delineating 
resources, entering into significant farm-in arrangements with other companies or developing projects through to the production 
stage to provide cash flow.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors report that during the year ended 30 June 2004, no dividends were declared or paid.  The Directors of the 
Company do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The most significant developments in the Company’s operations and financing activities were the following:

1. Yellow Mountain drilling led to the discovery of a gold-bearing granitic intrusion associated with the large regional 
Melrose Magnetic Anomaly.

2. Sunny Corner zone of high grade silver-copper-lead-zinc-gold mineralisation extended.

3. Canbelego drilling produced grades of up to 11m at 6.0 g/t gold on GCR ground.

4. Broken Hill gravity survey yielded targets for drill testing near the world class Broken Hill orebody.

5. Fundraising success, with a placement to sophisticated investors raising $1.5 million during October 2003 (at 7.7 cents 
per share) and over 500 shareholders contributing $2.1 million through a Share Purchase Plan in January/February 2004 
(at 8 cents per share), resulting in year-end cash reserves of $2.57 million.

The Company brought forward from 2003 provisions against the carrying value of a number of exploration properties, against the 
possibility that farm-in partners will not be found and the likelihood that carried forward expenditures will need to be written off.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EARNINGS PER SHARE 2004 2003
Cents Cents

Basic and diluted earnings per share (0.13) (4.215)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year used in the calculation of 
basic earnings per share

161,829,997 116,034,032

CASH RESERVES

At 30 June 2004 the consolidated entity held cash reserves of $2,569,673 excluding security deposits in the amount of $301,200.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

At the date of this report there are no matters that have arisen since 30 June 2004 that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity in future financial years, the results of those operations in future 
financial years, or the state of affairs in future financial years of the consolidated entity.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company plans to progress its Canbelego, Copper Hill, Sunny Corner, Eurongilly and Parkes properties and secure further 
farm-in partners for the Company’s major exploration properties not already farmed-out.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND SECRETARIES

Director Experience Special 
Responsibility

Particulars of Directors’ 
Interest in Shares and Options 

of Parent Entity

Ordinary
Shares

Options

Christopher 
Ryan

Non-executive Chairman since 2003.

BEcon, MBA, FAusIMM, ASIA, MPESA.  Principal 
of Westchester Corporate Finance, a corporate 
advisory business located in Sydney with a focus 
on the resources sector.  Formerly Director, 
Corporate Finance Division, Schroders Australia 
Limited.  Extensive experience in providing financial 
and corporate advice to mining and petroleum 
companies and as a director and chairman of listed 
public companies in the mining and petroleum 
industries.  He is also Chairman of Bligh Ventures 
Limited, Blue Ensign Technologies Limited and a 
director of Bentley International Limited.

Non-executive 
Chairman, 
Remuneration 
Committee 
Chairman and 
Audit Committee 
member

312,500 1.0M Director 
Options 
exercisable  
at 15c by 
30.11.2006

David Timms Managing Director since 1994.

BSc (Hons), PEng, FAusIMM, FAIG.  Manager, Amoco 
Minerals Australia from 1972 to 1985. Exploration 
Manager, Cyprus Gold from 1985 to 1990.  Managed 
teams that discovered 30 mineable deposits 
including Red Dome, Gidgee, Junction Reefs, 
Selwyn-Starra, Moline, Mt McLure, Gold Ridge 
(Solomon Islands) and Dinkidi (Philippines).

Managing
Director

18,121,289 1.5M Director 
Options 
exercisable 
at 15c by 
30.11.2006

Kerry McHugh Non-executive Director since 1998.

BCom (Hons).  Policy advisor to Australian and Papua 
New Guinean governments, 1967 to 1978. Manager, 
Strategy and Planning, Pioneer International 
Limited, 1987 to 1991.  General Manager, Business 
Development, Plutonic Resources Ltd, 1991 to 1998.

Non-executive 
Director, Audit 
Committee 
Chairman and 
Remuneration 
Committee 
member 

689,297 1.0M Director 
Options 
exercisable 
at 15c by 
30.11.2006

Chris Torrey Director-Exploration since 1 July 2003.

BSc, MSc, MAIG.  Formerly Exploration Manager, 
GCR, 1996 – 2003.  Geologist with Cyprus Amax, 
1986 to 1996, exploring in Australia, New Zealand, 
Central America and Indonesia.  He has explored 
for copper-gold porphyries, porphyry-related skarns, 
epithermal-gold silver and shear-hosted gold 
systems.

Director -
Exploration

417,300 1.7M Employee 
Options 
exercisable 
at 10c by 
11.11.2008

Daven Timms Alternate Director to David Timms since 2003.  

BSc LLB (Hons), AMPLA, MAusIMM, ASIA.  Formerly 
Executive Director, GCR, 1994 – 2003.  Solicitor 
with over 15 years’ experience.  Corporate Solicitor/
Company Secretary, Delta Gold, from 1998 – 2001. 
Corporate Lawyer, AurionGold, 2002.  He provides 
legal and company secretarial services through his 
law firm, Resources Legal.

Alternate Director 
to David Timms, 
and Company 
Secretary

323,285 1.0M Director 
Options 
exercisable 
at 15c by 
30.11.2006

Margaret 
Greentree

Company Secretary.  BEc, BBus (Accounting).  

Experience in the banking and finance sector 
(Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Indo-Suez Niugini 
Finance Company) prior to joining GCR in 2000.

Company 
Secretary

Nil 0.255M 
Employee 
Options 
exercisable at 
10c by 17.8.09

The particulars of Directors’ interests in shares and options are as at the date of this report.

RETIREMENT, AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Kerry McHugh retires as a Director in accordance with the Company’s Constitution and, being eligible, offers himself for re-

election.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors (including meetings of committees of Directors) held during the year ended 
30 June 2004, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:

Name Full Board 
Meetings Held 

While a Director

Full Board 
Meetings 

Attended While 
a Director

Audit and Remuneration* 
Committee Meetings Held 

While a Member

Audit and Remuneration* 
Committee Meetings 

Attended While a Member

Christopher Ryan 13 13 2 (1) 2 (1)

David Timms 13 13 - -

Kerry McHugh 13 13 2 (1) 2 (1)

Chris Torrey 13 13 - -

Daven Timms 13 13 - -

Note: * Remuneration Committee Meeting statistics are shown in brackets.

REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration is disclosed in the Financial Report under Note 17 “Director and Executive Disclosures”.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

GCR’s 2004 Annual General Meeting is scheduled to be held on Wednesday 10 November 2004.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The consolidated entity is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration activities in gold and base 
metals.  The Company meets the standards set by the Australian Minerals Industry Code for Environmental Management.

The Company has developed criteria to determine areas of ‘particular’ or ‘significant’ importance, with regard to environmental 
performance.  These are graded 1 to 4 in terms of priority.

Level 1 incident major non-compliance with regulatory requirement resulting in potential public outcry and significant 
environmental damage both long and short-term nature.

Level 2 incident significant non-compliance resulting in regulatory action, however environmental damage is only of a short-
term nature.

Level 3 incident minor non-compliance – no fine is imposed, however regulatory authority is notified.

Level 4 incident non-compliance with internal policies and procedures.  The incident is contained on-site.

In the last year no incidents have occurred. 

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

During the financial year Golden Cross Resources Ltd paid a premium to insure the Directors and other officers of the Company 
and its wholly owned subsidiary.  Under the terms of the policy the policy premium and policy liability cannot be disclosed.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS TO NEAREST THOUSAND DOLLARS

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report and financial report.  Amounts in the directors’ report and 
financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar, in accordance 
with that Class Order.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

David Timms, Managing Director, 
Sydney, 8 September 2004
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The Company’s main corporate 

governance practices are set out below.  

These practices were upgraded in June 

2004 in line with the ASX Corporate 

Governance Council’s Best Practice 

Recommendations.  Further information 

is available in the Corporate Governance 

section of the Company’s website www.

goldencross.com.au

The Board Of Directors
The Board takes ultimate responsibility 

for corporate governance and operates in 

accordance with the following principles:
• the Board comprises a minimum of 

four Directors;

• not less than one half of the Board 
should be independent Non-executive 
Directors;

• the Chairman should be an independ-
ent Non-executive Director who is 
elected by the full Board; and

• the Board should comprise Directors 
with a broad range of skills and experi-
ence relevant to the business of the 
Company.

The Board Charter is available on the 

Company’s website.  The Board considers 

that four Directors is the optimal number 

for the timely and efficient decision-

making required by the Company in its 

present circumstances.  The Company 

does not comply with Best Practice 

Recommendation 2.1, which recommends 

that a majority of the board should be 

independent directors.

The Company’s independent Directors are 

Christopher Ryan, Chairman (appointed 

2003) and Kerry McHugh, Non-executive 

Director (appointed 1998).  Relevant skills 

and experience of Directors are set out in 

the Directors’ Report and in the Corporate 

Governance section of the website.

The performance of the Directors is 

subject to review by the Chairman.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of the 
Company’s independent Non-executive 
Directors:

Kerry McHugh (Chairman) and Christopher 
Ryan

The purpose of the Audit Committee, 
as set out in the Charter posted on the 
website, is to:

• review and report to the Board on the 
annual report and financial statements

• provide assurance to the Board that it 
is receiving adequate, up to date and 
reliable information

• assist the Board in reviewing the ef-
fectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control environment covering:

• effectiveness and efficiency of opera-
tions

• reliability of financial reporting, and

• compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations

The Committee is also charged with 

the responsibility of recommending to 

the Board the appointment, removal 

and remuneration of the auditors, and 

reviewing the terms of their engagement, 

and the scope and quality of the audit.  

Details of the procedures for the selection 

and appointment of the auditors, and 

for the rotation of the audit engagement 

partners, are posted on the website.

In fulfilling its responsibilities the 

Committee meets at least twice each 

year and receives regular reports from 

management and the auditors.  It 

also meets with the auditors at least 

twice each year, and more frequently if 

necessary.  The auditors have a clear line 

of direct communication at any time with 

the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 

the Chairman of the Board.  The auditor is 

invited to attend general meetings of the 

Company to answer questions about the 

audit.

The Committee has authority, within the 
scope of its responsibilities, to seek any 
information it requires from any employee 
or external party, and to obtain external 
legal or other independent professional 
advice.  The Committee also requires 
the Managing Director and Company 
Secretary to sign off on the Company’s 
financial reports and the soundness of the 
Company’s risk management and internal 
compliance and control systems.

The Committee reports to the full Board 
after each Committee meeting and Audit 
Committee minutes are provided to all 
Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of 
the Non-executive Directors.  Company 
officers and directors are remunerated 
to a level consistent with the size of 
the Company.  The Golden Cross Share 
Acquisition Scheme and Employee 
Option Plan, approved by shareholders 
in 2002 and 2003 respectively, assist 
with motivating and retaining Company 
employees.  Non-executive Directors 
receive a director’s fee and can participate 
in the Share Acquisition Scheme.

The Committee reports to the full Board 

after each Committee meeting and 

Remuneration Committee minutes are 

provided to all Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Board believes that a Nomination 
Committee is not warranted by a 
company the size of Golden Cross.  The 
Board’s Nomination Policy is posted on 
the website.

Independent Professional Advice

Directors have the right, in connection 

with their duties and responsibilities 

as Directors, to seek independent 

professional advice at the Company’s 

expense.  Prior written approval of the 

Chairman is required, which will not be 

unreasonably withheld.

Continuous Disclosure Policy

The Company has written policies and 
procedures on information disclosure that 
focus on continuous disclosure of any 
information concerning the Company and 
its controlled entities that a reasonable 
person would expect to have a material 
effect on the price of the Company’s 
securities.  The Company’s Continuous 
Disclosure Policy is posted on the 
website.

All information disclosed to the Australian 
Stock Exchange is immediately posted on 
the website and emailed to those persons 
who have supplied their email address.  
When analysts are briefed on aspects of 
the Company’s operations, the material to 
be used in the presentation is released to 
the Australian Stock Exchange and posted 
on the website.

Securities Transaction Rules

The Company has in place written 
Securities Transaction Rules.  These 
are binding on Directors, officers and 
employees of the Company and prohibit 
trading in GCR securities while in 
possession of price-sensitive information.  
The Company Secretary must be notified 
of trading in GCR securities and the 
securities of the Company’s joint venture 
partners.  The Securities Transaction Rules 
are posted on the website.

Corporate Conduct

The Board has adopted policies on Ethics, 
Safety & Health, and the Environment.  
These policies seek to foster high 
standards of conduct and integrity among 
GCR employees, officers and Directors.  
The policies are posted on the website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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FINANCIAL REPORT

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

for the year ended 30 June 2004

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

Notes 2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Revenue from ordinary activities 2 202 128 90 31

Carrying amount of disposal of share in joint venture - (116) - -

Exploration expense 3 - (4,519) - -

General & administrative expenses (407) (398) (322) (3,405)

LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INCOME TAX 3 (205) (4,905) (232) (3,374)

Income Tax attributable to ordinary activities 4 - - - -

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF GOLDEN 
CROSS RESOURCES LIMITED (205) (4,905) (232) (3,374)

Net decrease in asset revaluation reserve - - - -

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from 
transactions with owners as owners (205) (4,905) (232) (3,374)

EARNINGS PER SHARE 2004 
Cents

2003 
Cents

Basic and diluted earnings per share 26 (0.13) (4.215)

The above statements of financial performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 30 June 2004

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

Notes 2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash assets 5 2,570 1,046 2,554 1,026

Inventories 19 19 - -

Other 6 365- 345 43 39

Total Current Assets 2,954 1,410 2,597 1,065

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables 7 - - 14,763 12,028

Investments 22 - - - 950

Exploration Properties, Plant and Equipment 8 15,021 13,085 116 116

Intangibles 9 7 9 - -

Total Non-Current Assets 15,028 13,094 14,879 13,094

TOTAL ASSETS 17,982 14,504 17,476 14,159

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 10 259 150 46 41

Provisions 11 48 335 - 300

Total Current Liabilities 307 485 46 341

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 12 197 180 - -

Loans 13 - 98 - 98

Total Non-Current Liabilities 197 278 - 98

TOTAL LIABILITIES 504 763 46 439

NET ASSETS 17,478 13,741 17,430 13,720

EQUITY

Contributed equity 14 23,797 19,855 23,797 19,855

Reserves 15(a) 1,792 1,792 599 599

Accumulated losses 15(b) (8,111) (7,906) (6,966) (6,734)

TOTAL  EQUITY 17,478 13,741 17,430 13,720

The above statements of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



24 GOLDEN CROSS RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2004

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

for year ended 30 June 2004

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

Notes 2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to suppliers and employees (397) (336) (148) (178)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure (1,528) (1,103) - -

Interest received 95 38 90 32

Other income 92 89 - -

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 24 (1,738) (1,312) (58) (146)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of plant 15 - - -

Payments for mine property, property, plant and equipment (154) (149) - (115)

Security deposits (20) (3) - -

Loan to controlled entity - - (1,835) (1,235)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities (159) (152) (1,835) (1,350)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Gross Proceeds from issue of shares 3,643 1,654 3,643 1,654

Other Finance (98) 98 (98) 98

Cost of issue of shares (124) (43) (124) (43)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 3,421 1,709 3,421 1,709

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD 1,524 245 1,528 213

Cash at beginning of financial year 1,046 801 1,026 813

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 5 2,570 1,046 2,554 1,026

Non cash financing activities 25

The above statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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This general purpose financial report 
has been prepared in accordance with 
Accounting Standards, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, Urgent 
Issues Group Consensus Views and the 
Corporations Act.

It is prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention, except for 
certain assets which, as noted, are at 
valuation.  Unless otherwise stated, 
the accounting policies adopted are 
consistent with those of the previous 
year.  Comparative information is 
reclassified where appropriate to enhance 
comparability.

The Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) is adopting International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
for application to reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2005.  The 
AASB will issue Australian equivalents 
to IFRS, and the Urgent Issues Group 
will issue abstracts corresponding 
to IASB interpretations originated by 
the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee or the former 
Standing Interpretations Committee.  The 
adoption of Australian equivalents to IFRS 
will be first reflected in the consolidated 
entity’s financial statements for the half-
year ending 31 December 2005 and the 
year ending 30 June 2006.  Information 
about how the transition to Australian 
equivalents to IFRS is being managed, 
and the key differences in accounting 
policies that are expected to arise, is set 
out in note 1(s).

(a)  Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated accounts incorporate 
the assets and liabilities of all entities 
controlled by Golden Cross Resources 
(Parent Entity) as at 30 June 2004 and 
the results of all controlled entities for 
the year then ended.  Golden Cross 
Resources Ltd and its controlled entities 
are together referred to in this financial 
report as the Golden Cross Group.  The 
effects of all transactions between entities 
in the economic entity are eliminated in 
full.

(b)  Foreign Currency

Foreign currency transactions are initially 
translated into Australian currency at the 
rate of exchange at the transaction date.  
At balance date, amounts payable to and 
by the Company in foreign currencies 
have been translated to Australian 
currency at rates of exchange ruling at 
that date.  Resulting exchange differences 
are brought to account in determining the 
profit or loss for the year.

Hedging of foreign currency revenue and/

or expenditures is not undertaken.

(c)  Acquisition of Assets

The cost method of accounting is used 
for all acquisitions of assets regardless 
of whether shares or other assets are 
acquired.  Cost is determined as the fair 
value of the assets given up at the date 
of acquisition plus costs incidental to the 
acquisition.  Where shares are issued in 
an acquisition, the value of the shares 
is determined having reference to the 
fair value of the assets or net assets 
acquired, including goodwill or discount 
on acquisition where applicable.

Costs relating to the acquisition of 
new areas of interest are classified 
as either exploration and evaluation 
expenditure, development properties 
or mine properties based on the stage 
of development reached at the date of 
acquisition.

(d)  Cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash includes deposits at call which 
are readily convertible to cash on hand 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts.

(e)  Inventories

Inventories of consumable supplies 
and spare parts expected to be used in 
production are valued at weighted average 
cost.  Obsolete or damaged inventories 
of such items are valued at net realisable 
value.  A regular and ongoing review is 
undertaken to establish the extent of 
surplus items, and a provision is made for 
any potential loss on their disposal.

Insurance and capital (or circulating) spare 
parts are capitalised and depreciated over 
the same remaining life as the equipment 
with which they are associated.

(f)  Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are 
included at cost.  Depreciation is provided 
on a diminishing value basis on all 
property, plant and equipment at rates 
calculated to write off the cost, less 
estimated residual value at the end of 
the useful lives of the assets, over those 
estimated useful lives. The expected 
useful lives are as follows:

Plant and equipment 4 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

(g)  Exploration and Evaluation Costs

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

on exploration tenements and rights to 

farm-in are accumulated separately for 

each area of interest. Such expenditure 

comprises net direct costs and an 

appropriate portion of related overhead 

expenditure, but does not include general 

overheads or administrative expenditure 

not having a specific nexus with a 

particular area of interest.

Exploration expenditure for each area of 

interest is carried forward as an asset 

provided one of the following conditions 

is met:

• such costs are expected to be 

recouped through successful 

development and exploitation of the 

area of interest, or alternatively, by its 

sale; or

• exploration activities in the area 

of interest have not yet reached a 

stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence or 

otherwise of recoverable mineral 

resources, and active and significant 

operations in relation to the area are 

continuing.

Exploration expenditure that fails to meet 

at least one of the conditions outlined 

above is written off or a provision made.

Provisions are made where farm-

in partners are sought and there is 

a possibility that carried-forward 

expenditures may have to be written off 

in the future.  In the event that farm-in 

agreements are reached or the Company 

undertakes further exploration in its own 

right on those properties, the provisions 

would be reviewed and if appropriate, 

written back.

Evaluation for each area of interest/

mineral resource is carried forward, but 

only to the extent its recoupment out of 

revenue to be derived from the relevant 

area of interest/mineral resource, or from 

sale of that area of interest, is reasonably 

assured.

When an area of interest is abandoned, 

any expenditure carried forward in respect 

of that area is written off.  Expenditure is 

not carried forward in respect of any area 

of interest unless the Company’s right of 

tenure to that area of interest is current.

Identifiable exploration assets acquired 

from another mining company are 

recognised as assets at their cost 

of acquisition, as determined by the 

requirements of AASB 1015 Accounting 

for the Acquisition of Assets.  Exploration 

assets acquired are reassessed on a 

regular basis and these costs are carried 

forward provided that at least one of the 

above conditions is met.

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES



26 GOLDEN CROSS RESOURCES ANNUAL REPORT 2004

(h)  Mine Properties

Mine properties represent the 

accumulation of all exploration, evaluation 

and development expenditure incurred 

by or on behalf of the entity in relation 

to areas of interest in which mining of a 

mineral resource has commenced.

When further development expenditure 

is incurred in respect of a mine property 

after the commencement of production, 

such expenditure is carried forward as 

part of the mine property only when 

substantial future economic benefits 

are thereby established, otherwise such 

expenditure is classified as part of the 

cost of production.

Amortisation of costs are provided on 

the unit-of-production method with 

separate calculations being made for 

each mineral resource.  The unit-of-

production basis results in an amortisation 

charge proportional to the depletion of 

the economically recoverable mineral 

reserves.  Development costs still to 

be incurred in relation to the current 

reserves are included in the amortisation 

calculation.

The net carrying value of each mine 

property is reviewed regularly and, to the 

extent to which this value exceeds its 

recoverable amount, that excess is either 

fully provided against or written off in the 

financial year in which this is determined.

(i)  Intangible Assets and Expenditure 
Carried Forward

Goodwill

On acquisition of some, or all, of the 
assets in another entity or, in the case 
of an investment in a controlled entity, 
the identifiable net assets acquired are 
measured at fair value.  In determining the 
fair value of any identifiable exploration 
assets acquired, and in allocating the cost 
of acquisition of them, all risks relating to 
such assets are considered.  The excess 
of the fair value of the cost of acquisition 
over the fair value of the identifiable net 
assets acquired, including any liability 
for restructuring costs, is brought to 
account as goodwill and amortised on a 
straight line basis over 20 years, being 
the period during which the benefits are 
expected to arise.  The cost of acquisition 
is discounted as described in Note 1(c) 
where settlement of any part of cash 
consideration is deferred.

(j)  Other Creditors

These amounts represent liabilities for 

goods and services provided to the 

economic entity prior to the end of the 

financial year and which are unpaid.  

These amounts are unsecured and are 

usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(k)  Non-Current Assets

Recoverable amount of non-current 
assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is 
the net amount expected to be recovered 
through the net cash inflows arising 
from its continued use and subsequent 
disposal.

Where the carrying amount of a 
non-current asset is greater than its 
recoverable amount the asset is written 
down to its recoverable amount.  Where 
net cash inflows are derived from a group 
of assets working together, recoverable 
amount is determined on the basis of the 
relevant group of assets. The decrement 
in the carrying amount is recognised as 
an expense in net profit or loss in the 
reporting period in which the recoverable 
amount write-down occurs. 

The expected net cash flows included 
in determining recoverable amounts 
of non-current assets are discounted 
to their present values using a market 
determined, risk-adjusted discount rate. 

Revaluations of non-current assets

Subsequent to initial recognition as 

assets, land and buildings, including those 

classified as investment properties, are 

measured at fair value being the amounts 

for which the assets could be exchanged 

between knowledgeable willing parties in 

an arm’s length transaction.  Revaluations 

are made with sufficient regularity to 

ensure that the carrying amount of each 

piece of land and each building does not 

differ materially from its fair value at the 

reporting date.  Annual assessments are 

made by the directors, supplemented by 

independent assessments at least every 

three years.

Revaluation increments are credited 

directly to the asset revaluation 

reserve, except that, to the extent that 

an increment reverses a revaluation 

decrement in respect of that class 

of asset previously recognised as 

an expense in net profit or loss, the 

increment is recognised immediately as 

revenue in net profit or loss.

Revaluation decrements are recognised as 

expenses in net profit or loss, except that, 

to the extent that a credit balance exists in 

the asset revaluation reserve in respect of 

the same class of assets, they are debited 

directly to asset revaluation reserve.

Revaluation increments and decrements 

are offset against one another within 

a class of non-current assets, but not 

otherwise.

Potential Capital Gains Tax is not taken 

into account in determining revaluation 

amounts unless it is expected that a 

liability for such a tax will crystallise.

(l)  Employee Entitlements

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and 
Sick Leave

In accordance with the revised AASB 

1028 employee entitlements, liabilities 

for wages, salaries, annual leave and sick 

leave (regardless of whether they are 

expected to be settled within 12 months 

of the reporting date) and other employee 

benefits expected to be settled within 

12 months of the reporting date are 

measured at their nominal amounts, using 

the remuneration rates expected to be 

paid when these obligation are settled.

Long Service Leave

A liability for long service leave is 

recognised, and is measured as the 

present value of expected future 

payments to be made in respect of 

services provided by employees up to the 

reporting date.  Consideration is given to 

expected future wage and salary levels, 

experience of employee departures and 

periods of service.  Expected future 

payments are discounted using interest 

rates on national government guaranteed 

securities with terms to maturity that 

match, as closely as possible, the 

estimated future cash outflows.

(m)  Restoration, Rehabilitation and 
Environmental Expenditure

Restoration, rehabilitation and 

environmental costs necessitated by 

exploration and evaluation activities are 

accrued at the time of those activities 

and treated as exploration and evaluation 

expenditure.

Expenditures relating to ongoing 

rehabilitation and restoration programmes 

are provided for or charged to costs of 

production as incurred.  Other restoration 

costs are accrued over the life of the 

mine.

Restoration rehabilitation and 

environmental obligations recognised 

include the costs of reclamation, plant 

and waste site closure and subsequent 

monitoring of the environment.

Costs are estimated on the basis of 

current undiscounted costs, current legal 

requirements and current technology.

Summary, continued...
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Estimates of future costs are reassessed 

at least annually.  Changes in estimates 

would have been written off or provided 

relating to areas of interest in the 

exploration and evaluation phase are dealt 

with retrospectively, with any amounts 

that against under the accounting policy 

for exploration and evaluation immediately 

written off.  Changes in estimates of costs 

relating to producing areas are dealt with 

prospectively over the remaining mine life.

(n)  Income Tax

Tax effect accounting procedures are 
followed whereby the income tax expense 
in the statement of financial performance 
is matched with accounting profit (after 
allowing for permanent differences).  
Income tax on net cumulative timing 
differences is set aside to the deferred 
income tax and future tax benefit 
accounts at the rates which are expected 
to apply when those timing differences 
reverse.  The future tax benefit relating 
to tax losses is not carried forward as an 
asset unless the benefit can be regarded 
as being virtually certain of realisation.

(o)  Maintenance and Repairs

Maintenance, repair costs and minor 
renewals are expensed as incurred.

(p)  Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is determined 

by dividing net profit after income tax 

attributable to members of the Company, 

excluding any costs of servicing equity 

other than ordinary shares, by the 

weighted average number of ordinary 

shares outstanding during the financial 

year, adjusted for bonus elements in 

ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the 

figures used in the determination of basic 

earnings per share to take into account 

the after income tax effect of interest 

and other financing costs associated 

with dilutive potential ordinary shares 

and the weighted average number of 

shares assumed to have been issued for 

no consideration in relation to dilutive 

potential ordinary shares.

(q)  Commitments for Expenditure

The Company has certain obligations to 

perform minimum exploration work in the 

next twelve months on tenements held.  

Details of these commitments are set out 

in Note 19.

(r)  Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists primarily of interest 
revenue that is brought to account on an 
accruals basis.

(s)  International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)

The Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) is adopting IFRS for 
application to reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2005.  The AASB 
has issued Australian equivalents to 
IFRS, and the Urgent Issues Group has 
issued interpretations corresponding 
to IASB interpretations originated by 
the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee or the former 
Standing Interpretations Committee.  The 
adoption of Australian equivalents to IFRS 
will be first reflected in the consolidated 
entity’s financial statements for the half-
year ending 31 December 2005 and the 
year ending 30 June 2006.

Entities complying with Australian 
equivalents to IFRS for the first time will 
be required to restate their comparative 
financial statements to amounts 
reflecting the application of IFRS to that 
comparative period.  Most adjustments 
required on transition to IFRS will be 
made, retrospectively, against opening 
retained earnings as at 1 July 2004.

The consolidated entity will manage 
the transition to Australian equivalents 
to IFRS, including training of staff and 
system and internal control changes 
necessary to gather all the required 
financial information.  In some cases 
choices of accounting policies are 
available, including elective exemptions 
under Accounting Standard AASB 1 First-
time Adoption of Australian Equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting 
Standards.  Some of these choices are 
still being analysed to determine the most 
appropriate accounting policy for the 
consolidated entity.

Major changes identified to date that will 
be required to the consolidated entity’s 
existing accounting policies include 
the following (references to new AASB 
standards below are to the Australian 
equivalents to IFRS issued in July 2004):

(i)  Income tax

Under the new AASB 112 Income Taxes, 

deferred tax balances are determined 

using the balance sheet method which 

calculates temporary differences based 

on the carrying amounts of an entity’s 

assets and liabilities in the statement of 

financial position and their associated tax 

bases.  In addition, current and deferred 

taxes attributable to amounts recognised 

directly in equity are also recognised 

directly in equity.

This will result in a change to the current 

accounting policy, under which deferred 

tax balances are determined using the 

income statement method, items are only 

tax-effected if they are included in the 

determination of pre-tax accounting profit 

or loss and/or taxable income or loss and 

current and deferred taxes cannot be 

recognised directly in equity.

(ii)  Exploration Expenditure

An Exposure Draft (IASB ED6) has 

been issued in relation to “Exploration 

and Evaluation of Mineral Resources”.  

Management is monitoring this exposure 

draft and the impact it would have on 

the Company’s financial statements.  

It is uncertain at this stage what the 

final requirements of the accounting 

standard will be in relation to this topic 

and accordingly the Company is not in a 

position to determine the impact at this 

stage.

(iii)  Intangible assets – goodwill

Under the new AASB 3 Business 

Combinations, amortisation of goodwill 

will be prohibited, and will be replaced by 

annual impairment testing focusing on the 

cash flows of the related cash generating 

unit.

This will result in a change to the current 

accounting policy, under which goodwill 

is amortised on a straight line basis over 

the period during which the benefits are 

expected to arise and not exceeding 20 

years.

(iv)  Equity-based compensation benefits

Under the new AASB 2 Share-based 

Payment, equity-based compensation 

to employees will be recognised as 

an expense in respect of the services 

received.

This will result in a change to the current 

accounting policy, under which no 

expense is recognised for equity-based 

compensation.

The above should not be regarded as a 

complete list of changes in accounting 

policies that will result from the transition 

to Australian equivalents to IFRS, as not all 

standards have been analysed as yet, and 

some decisions have not yet been made 

where choices of accounting policies are 

available.  For these reasons it is not yet 

possible to quantify the impact of the 

transition to Australian equivalents to 

IFRS on the consolidated entity’s financial 

position and reported results.

Summary, continued...
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2.  REVENUE

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Revenue from operating activities
Exploration Rights 87 65 - -
Total Revenue 87 65 - -

Revenue from outside the operating activities
Interest Received/Receivable 95 39 90 31
Other Revenue 20 24 - -
Total Revenue 114 63 90 31
Subtotal 202 128 90 31

Details of provisions are shown in Notes 11 and 12.

3.  OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax includes the following specific net gains and expenses:

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

NET GAINS AND EXPENSES
Depreciation
   Plant and equipment 23 10 - -
Amortisation
   Goodwill 2 3 - -
Exploration and Evaluation
   Capital expenditure written off 1 231 - -
   Carrying amount of disposal in joint venture - 116 - -
   Provision for diminution of exploration properties - 4,288 - -
Operating Lease
   Rental expense 60 53 - -
Other charges against assets
   Write down receivable of inter-company loan - - - 235
   Write down investment in subsidiary - - 100 2,990
Other items
   Employee entitlements 83 122 - -
   Audit fees 23 22 15 15
   Insurance 44 38 44 38
   Stock exchange fees 35 22 22 22
   Other 136 127 141 105
Total 407 5,033 322 3,405

4.  INCOME TAX
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Note 4(a)
The income tax expense for the financial year differs from the 
amount calculated on the loss.  The differences are reconciled 
as follows:
Operating loss before tax 205 4,905 232 3,374
Income tax @ 30% (62) (1,472) (70) (1,012)
Tax effect of permanent differences
   Non-deductibles 23 1,118 52 976
   Provision for investment writedown
Income tax adjusted for permanent differences (39) (354) (18) (36)
Future income tax benefit not recognised 39 354 18 36
Income tax expense - - - -

Note 4 (b)
The Directors estimate that the potential future income tax 
benefit at 30 June 2004 in respect of tax losses not brought to 
account is as follows:
   at 30% 3,885 3,286 279 262
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This benefit of income tax losses will only be obtained if:
(i) the consolidated group of companies derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount to enable the benefit 

from the deductions for the losses to be realised; or
(ii) the losses are transferred to an eligible subsidiary in the consolidated group; and
(iii) the consolidated group of companies continue to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; 

and
(iv) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated group of companies in realising benefit from the deductions 

from the losses.
(v) The revised version of AASB 1020 has not been adopted early for the purposes of this annual financial report. References 

to AASB 1020 in the main body of this publication are to the October 1989 version of the standard.

5.   CURRENT ASSETS – Cash assets
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 70 145 54 125
Deposits at call (a) 2,500 901 2,500 901

2,570 1,046 2,554 1,026
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the 
financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows as 
follows:
Balances as above 2,570 1,046 2,554 1,026
Balances per statement of cash flows 2,570 1,046 2,554 1,026

Deposits at call

(a) The deposits are bearing variable interest rates that at year-end were 4.75% (2003: 4.50%).

6.   CURRENT ASSETS - Other
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Other debtors 63 64 43 40
Security deposits (a) 301 281 - -

364 345 43 40

(a)  Security deposits are required by government legislation as a prerequisite to exploration.

The deposits are bearing floating interest rates between 4.50% and 5.50% (2003: between 3.00% and 5.00%).

7.   NON-CURRENT ASSETS - Receivables

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Amounts owed by controlled entities - - 14,763 12,028
Other receivables - - -

- - 14,763 12,028

8.   NON-CURRENT ASSETS – Exploration Properties, Plant and Equipment
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Exploration Properties
Exploration Assets
Costs brought forward 12,597 15,796 1 1
Expenditure incurred during the year 1,806 1,290 - -
Exploration assets acquired through share issues - 30 - -
Expenditure written off during the year (1) (231) - -
Provision for diminution of exploration properties - (4,288) - -
Costs carried forward 14,402 12,597 1 1

Costs incurred on current areas of interest
- Adelong 463 575 - -
- Breadalbane 2 76 - -
- Kempfield 70 66 - -
- Parkes 28 62 - -
- Sunny Corner 695 55 - -
- Pipeline/Canbelego 18 54 - -
All other properties 530 348 - -

1,806 1,290 - -

Total exploration properties 14,402 12,597 1 1
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Properties Plant and Equipment
Carrying amount at 1 July 2003 488 333 115 115
Expenditure incurred during the year 154 175 - -
Additions through acquisition of entity - - - -
Disposals - (10) - -
Depreciation/amortisation expense (23) (10) - -
Carrying amount at 30 June 2004 619 488 - -

15,021 13,085 116 116

Valuation of Exploration Properties

The basis of valuation of exploration and evaluation assets is the current market price for equivalent properties, the geological 
potential and the probability of present value being derived from individual recognised areas of mineralisation.

Details of the economic entity’s exploration tenements are disclosed at the back of the Annual Report.

At year-end there were several areas of interest for which a farm-in partner was being sought.  While there are reasonably-held 
expectations of such farm-in partners being found, Directors deemed it prudent to bring forward from 2003 the provisions of 
50% of the previously carried-forward values against the possibility that farm-in partners will not be found and the likelihood that 
carried forward expenditures will need to be written down in the future.

In 2004, the provision amounted to $4.29 million.  In the event that farm-in agreements are reached or if GCR undertakes further 
exploration in its own right on those properties, the provisions will be reviewed and if appropriate, written back.

9.   NON-CURRENT ASSETS – Intangibles

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Goodwill on consolidation 9 12 - -
Less:  Accumulated amortisation (2) (3) - -

7 9 - -

10.   CURRENT LIABILITIES - Payables

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Other creditors 259 150 46 41

11.   CURRENT LIABILITIES – Provisions

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Provision for Annual Leave (See Note 20) 48 35 - -
Convertible note – non-interest bearing - 300 - 300

48 335 - 300

12.   NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – Provisions

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Provision for Mine Rehabilitation 140 140 - -
Provision for Long Service Leave (Note 20) 57 40 - -

197 180 - -

13.   NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Loan - 98 - 98

14.   CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

(a)  Issued and paid up
           Ordinary shares 185,238 131,737 23,797 19,855
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Movements in issued and paid up ordinary share capital and options of the Company during the past two years were as follows:

DATE DETAILS NO. OF 
SHARES

ISSUE 
PRICE 
CENTS

NO. OF 
OPTIONS 

$’000

1.7.02 Opening Balance 100,200,039 48,465,000 17,969
24.7.02 Issued in consideration of geological services 836,550 10.0 83

Issued in consideration of Cargo royalty 300,000 10.0 30
22.8.02 Expiration of employee options (580,000)
26.8.02 Issue to employees under SAS, - Note (e) 118,500 10.0 12
12.9.02 Placement of shares to raise additional capital 2,500,000 7 175

Placement of options to raise additional capital 2 1,250,000 25
Issued in consideration of investor relation services 450,000 8.7 39

11.11.02 Issue to employees under SAS, - Note (e) 57,859 7 4
9.12.02 Placement of shares to raise additional capital 3,089,475 5.7 176

Issued in consideration of geological services 159,421 6.9 11
Issued in consideration of geological services 10,356 11.1 1
Director’s Options – Note (b) 2,400,000

20.12.02 Issue to employees under SAS, - Note (e) 897,917 6 54
Employee options – Note (d) 355,000

30.12.02 Issue under Share Purchase Plan 7,839,376 5.7 438
31.12.03 Expiry of Employee options (41,140,000)
29.1.03 Issue under Share Purchase Plan 14,571,962 5.7 835

Issued in consideration of geological services 366,062 6.5 24
Issued in consideration of geological services 258,065 6.2 16

5.2.03 Issue to employees under SAS, - Note (e) 81,430 7 6
25.6.03 Employee options – Note (d) 370,000

Director’s Options – Note (b) 1,000,000
Closing Balance 131,737,012 12,120,000 19,898
Less: Transaction costs arising on share issues (43)
Balance 131,737,012 12,120,000 19,855

18.7.03 Issued in consideration of 5% interest in Challenger Joint 
Venture at Adelong

5,639,100 5.3 300

27.7.03 Expiry of Employee options (270,000)
30.7.03 Issue to employees under SAS - Note (e) 66,000 5 3
8.10.03 Placement of shares to raise additional capital 19,800,000 7.7 1,525

31.10.03 Issue to employees under SAS - Note (e) 25,000 8 2
13.11.03 Issue to Director under SAS - Note (e) 487,500 9 44

Issue of Employee Options to Director – Notes (c), (d) 500,000
19.12.03 Expiry of Employee options (220,000)

5.2.04 Issue under Share Purchase Plan 23,829,714 8 1,907
25.2.04 Issue under Share Purchase Plan 2,653,717 8 212
16.4.04 Issue in consideration for termination of the Strategic 

Alliance agreement- Note (f)
1,000,000 7.3 73

Closing Balance 185,238,043 12,130,000 23,921
Less: Transaction costs arising on share issues (124)
Balance 185,238,043 12,130,000 23,797

(b) Options to take up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company are set out in the above table and the table headed 
“Information on Directors” in the Directors’ Report.

(c) The Employee Option Plan, re-approved by shareholders at the 2003 AGM, is described at Note 20.  Details of options 
issued to Directors under the Plan are set out in the Directors’ Report.

(d) At the date of this report the following Employee Options were on issue, all exercisable at 10 cents: 230,000 exercisable 
by 18.12.2004; 300,000 exercisable by 29.6.2005, 285,000 exercisable by 22.12.2005, 315,000 exercisable by 27.6.2006, 
325,000 exercisable by 21.12.06, 325,000 exercisable by 28.6.2007, 355,000 exercisable by 20.12.2007, 370,000 
exercisable by 25.6.08, 500,000 exercisable by 11.11.2008 and 670,000 exercisable by 17.8.2004 (total of 3,675,000 
Employee Options);

(e) The Share Acquisition Scheme, re-approved by shareholders at the 2002 AGM, is described at Note 20.  Details of shares 
issued to Directors under the SAS are set out in the Directors’ Report.

(f) On 16 April 2004, 1,000,000 shares were issued to Aurcay Holdings Inc of Canada in consideration of the termination of 
the Strategic Alliance agreement between Aurcay and GCR dated 31 December 1997.
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15.   RESERVES
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

(a)  Composition: 
      Asset revaluation reserve 1,792 1,792 599 599

1,792 1,792 599 599

Asset revaluation reserve

          Opening Balance 1,792 1,792 599 599

          Balance 30 June 2004 1,792 1,792 599 599

(b)  Accumulated losses
      Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (7,906) (3,001) (6,734) (3,360)

      Net loss attributable to members of Golden Cross 
      Resources Ltd

(205) (4,905) (232) (3,374)

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (8,111) (7,906) (6,966) (6,734)

16.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)    Interest rate risk exposure

At balance date, the Golden Cross Group is exposed to floating weighted average interest rates for financial assets of 
0.25% on $70,523 cash balances, 4.75% on $2,500,000 deposits at call, and between 4.50% and 5.50% on $301,200 
security deposits.

All other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing.

(b)    Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The net fair value of all monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of the Golden Cross Group approximate their 
carrying value.

There are no off balance sheet financial assets and liabilities at year-end.

All financial assets and liabilities are denominated in Australian dollars.

(c)    Credit risk exposures

The credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity which have been recognised on the balance sheet is generally 
the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts.

(d)    Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of 
the consolidated entity approximates their carrying amounts.

17.   DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

The following persons were Directors of the Company during the financial year:

Chairman – Non-executive

Christopher Ryan

Executive Directors

David Timms, Managing Director

Chris Torrey, Director-Exploration

Daven Timms (Alternate Director for David Timms), Company Secretary

Non-executive Director

Kerry McHugh

EXECUTIVES WITH AUTHORITY FOR STRATEGIC DIRECTION AND MANAGEMENT

Under the definition contained in AASB 1046, the Company has no executives other than those included in the above list of 
directors who are responsible for the strategic direction and operational management of the Company.  In addition to the 
specified directors, the Company has only six employees, who conduct field and administrative work, and have no responsibility 
for the strategic decision making of the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration

The Company’s aim is to remunerate at a level that will attract and retain high-calibre directors and employees.  All Directors may 
participate in the Share Acquisition Scheme and only Executive Directors may participate in the Employee Option Plan, which 
assist in the motivation and retention of Directors.

Director’s Fees

The current base fees, reviewed in March 2004, are $30,000 for the Non-executive Director and $40,000 for the Chairman.  These 
are within the aggregate Directors Fee Pool Limit of $150,000 set at the 2002 AGM.

Executive Pay

The Executive Directors are remunerated at a level appropriate to an exploration company the size of GCR.  Remuneration is set 
having regard to performance and relevant comparative information.  In addition to a base salary, remuneration packages include 
superannuation, termination entitlements and fringe benefits.

Details of Remuneration

Details of the remuneration of each Director of Golden Cross Resources Ltd, including their personally-related entities, are set 
out in the following table.

Year ended 30.6.04 

Name

Primary: 
Salary/Fee

 
$

Post 
Employment: 

Superannuation
$

Equity: 
Shares*/Options **

 
$

Total  

$

Christopher Ryan 33,333 - - 33,333

Kerry McHugh 23,333 2,100 - 25,433

David Timms 56,292 9,015 43,875* 109,182

Chris Torrey 115,109 9,900 18,732*** 143,741

Daven Timms 82,800 - - 82,800

Total 310,867 21,015 62,607 394,489

Note: * During part of the year in review David Timms participated in the Company’s Share Acquisition Scheme (SAS), approved 
by shareholders at the 2003 AGM, through salary sacrifice, in the amount of $43,875 (487,500 shares issued at 9c per share, the 
market value of the shares at the time of issue).  The above share issue was approved by special resolution of shareholders. 

Note: ** The amounts disclosed above for equity remuneration relating to options are the assessed fair values of options at the 
date they were granted, allocated pro rata over the period between grant date and vesting date.  This represents a change from 
previous years to the Company’s accounting policy; in previous years the value of options at grant date was allocated in full to 
the year of grant.  Fair values have been assessed using the Black & Scholes option pricing model.  Factors taken into account by 
the model include the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price on the date of grant and expected price volatility of 
the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.  Employee options vest 
as follows: Pre-November 2008 expiry dates: on date of grant, 0%; after 1 year, 10%; after 2 years, 25%; after 3 years, 45%, 
after 4 years, 70% and after 5 years, 100%. For expiry dates of November 2008 and beyond: on date of grant, 10%; after 1 year, 
30%; after 2 years, 60%; after 3 years, 100%.  The only vesting hurdle for Employee Options is the passage of time; there are no 
performance hurdles.

Note: *** During the financial year Chris Torrey was granted 500,000 employee options exercisable at 10 cents by 11.11.2008, as 
approved by shareholders at the 2003 AGM.

Total remuneration of Directors of Golden Cross Resources Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2003 is set out below.  Information for 
individual Directors is not shown as this is the first financial report prepared since the issue of AASB 1046 Director and Executive 
Disclosures by Disclosing Entities.

Year ended 30.6.03 Primary: 
Salary/Fee 

$

Post 
Employment: 

Superannuation
$

Equity: 
Shares*/Options** 

$

Total  

$

Total 166,917 15,023 44,200 226,140

Service Agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for Executive Directors are formalised in written agreements.

David Timms, Managing Director, is employed under a contract that is being renewed from year to year.  It provides for 
termination by the Company on three months’ notice.  No termination benefits are provided for in addition to statutory 
entitlements.  His present salary, reviewed in March 2004, is $125,000 per annum plus superannuation.
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Chris Torrey, Director-Exploration, is employed under a contract that is being renewed from year to year.  It provides for 
immediate termination by the Company in the event of a breach of the agreement.  No termination benefits are provided for in 
addition to statutory entitlements.  His present salary, reviewed in March 2004, is $120,000 per annum, plus superannuation and 
health insurance.

Daven Timms, Company Secretary, provides legal and company secretarial services to GCR through his law firm, Resources 
Legal Pty Ltd.  The consultancy deed is continuing on a month to month basis and provides for the supply of the services 
two days per week, including eight days paid time off per year, at the rate of $82,800 per annum plus GST.  The deed may be 
terminated by either party on three months’ notice.

There are no service agreements in place for the Non-executive Directors.

Share-based compensation – options

Director Options were granted for no consideration with approval of shareholders.  Employee Options were granted for no 
consideration under the GCR Employee Option Plan approved by shareholders at the 2002 AGM.  Option holders have no rights 
to participate in new issues of shares.  When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share.

Share-based Compensation – Share Acquisition Scheme

All Directors may participate in the GCR Employee Share Acquisition Scheme through salary sacrifice.  As detailed in the note 
below the remuneration table above, only David Timms participated during the financial year.

EQUITY INSTRUMENT DISCLOSURES RELATING TO DIRECTORS

Options provided as remuneration

Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to each Director are set out below.  Further 
information on the options is set out in the above table.

Name of Director No. of Options 
Granted during the 

year

No. of Options 
Vested during the 

year

Christopher Ryan - -

Kerry McHugh - -

David Timms - -

Chris Torrey 500,000 295,000

Daven Timms - -

Option Vesting and Valuations

Details of option vesting and valuations are set out below.  Further information on vesting hurdles of Employee Options is set out 
below the summary table of option classes, above.

Name Vested 
Number

Granted 
number

Grant 
date

Value per 
option at 

grant date 
(cents)

Exercise 
Price $

First 
exercise 

date

Last 
exercise 

date

Christopher Ryan 1,000,000 1,000,000 25.6.03 1.30 0.15 25.6.03 30.11.06

Kerry McHugh 400,000 400,000 9.12.02 1.30 0.15 9.12.02 30.11.06

600,000 600,000 21.12.01 2.80 0.15 21.12.01 30.11.06

David Timms 1,500,000 1,500,000 21.12.01 2.80 0.15 21.12.01 30.11.06

Chris Torrey 87,500 125,000 12.07.99 3.50 0.10 12.7.00 12.7.04

105,000 140,000 18.12.99 3.50 0.10 18.12.00 18.12.04

105,000 150,000 29.6.00 3.50 0.10 29.6.01 29.6.05

63,000 140,000 22.12.00 3.60 0.10 22.12.01 22.12.05

60,000 150,000 27.6.01 3.80 0.10 27.6.02 27.06.06

37,500 150,000 21.12.01 3.73 0.10 21.12.02 21.12.06

37,500 150,000 28.6.02 4.00 0.10 28.6.03 28.6.07

16,000 160,000 20.12.02 2.39 0.10 20.12.03 20.12.07

16,000 160,000 25.6.03 2.59 0.10 25.6.04 25.6.08

50,000 500,000 11.11.03 4.89 0.10 11.11.03 11.11.08

Total for C Torrey 577,500 1,825,000

Daven Timms 1,000,000 1,000,000 21.12.01 2.80 0.15 21.12.01 30.11.06

Total 5,077,500 6,325,000 
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Shares provided on Exercise of Remuneration Options

There were no remuneration options exercised during the year.

Option Holdings

Name Balance Granted as Net Change Balance Vested at 30.06.2004
1.7.03 remuneration Other 30.6.04 Total Exercisable

Christopher Ryan 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Kerry McHugh 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

David Timms 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000

Chris Torrey 1,600,000 500,000 -275,000 1,825,000 577,500 577,500

(expired)

Daven Timms 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Total: 6,100,000 500,000 -275,000 6,325,000 5,077,500 5,077,500

Note: No options were exercised during the financial year and there were no options vested that were unexercisable at 30.6.04.

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Golden Cross Resources Ltd, including 
their personally-related entities, are set out below.

Name Balance Received as Options Net Change Balance
1.7.03 remuneration exercised Other * 30.6.04

Christopher Ryan 250,000 - - 62,500 312,500

Kerry McHugh 626,797 - - 62,500 689,297

David Timms 17,269,070 - - 852,219 18,121,289

Chris Torrey 404,800 - - 12,500 417,300

Daven Timms 260,785 - - 62,500 323,285

Total 18,811,452  - - 262,500 19,863,671

Note: * All Directors participated in the GCR Share Purchase Plan during 2004, through the purchase of up to $5,000 worth of 
GCR shares at 8c per share.  As disclosed to ASX during the financial year, David Timms also purchased shares on-market.

LOANS TO DIRECTORS

There were no loans to directors or director-related entities during the financial year.

OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS

Christopher Ryan is a director and shareholder of Westchester Corporate Finance, which was paid a fee of $18,341 for corporate 
advisory services provided in connection with the GCR Share Purchase Plan, under a contract entered into in 2002, prior to 
Christopher Ryan becoming a Director of the Company.  The contract was based on arms’ length commercial terms and 
conditions.

Kerry McHugh is a director and shareholder of Barkly Adams Pty Ltd, which was paid a fee of $10,000 for business development 
services provided to GCR.  The contract was based on normal commercial terms and conditions.

Amounts Recognised as Expense

2004 
$

2003 
$

Corporate advisory fees – Share Purchase Plan 18,341 -
Business development fees 10,000 10,000

28,341 10,000

Aggregate amounts payable to Directors of Golden Cross Resources Ltd at 30.6.04 relating to the above types of other 
transactions.

2004 
$

2003 
$

Current liabilities - -

18.   REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Remuneration for audit or review of the accounts and 
consolidated accounts of Golden Cross Resources Ltd Auditors 
of parent entity

- Parent entity 16,000 14,587 16,000 14,587
- Controlled entity 7,000 7,000 - -

23,000 21,587 16,000 14,587
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19.   COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

Commitments in relation to non-cancelable operating leases contracted for are payable as follows:

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Operating Leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:
Not later than 1 year 78 41 - -
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 78 - - -
Commitments not recognised in the financial statements 156 41 - -

Exploration Commitments
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration 
tenements, the economic entity has the following discretionary 
exploration expenditure requirements up until expiry of the 
leases.  These obligations, which are subject to renegotiation 
upon expiry of the leases, are not provided for in the financial 
statements and are payable:
Not later than one year 383 424 - -
Later than one year but not later than 2 years 595 97 - -

978 521 - -

If the economic entity decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet these joint venture or annual exploration 
expenditure obligations, assets recognised in the balance sheet may require review to determine the appropriateness of carrying 
values.  The sale, transfer or farm-out of exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish these obligations.

20.   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Provision for employee entitlements

    Current (Note 11) 57 35 - -

    Non-current (Note 12) 46 40 - -

Aggregate employment entitlement liability 103 75 - -

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Average number of employees during financial year 9 7 9 7

The amounts for long service leave and superannuation are measured at their present values.

GOLDEN CROSS EMPLOYEE SHARE ACQUISITION SCHEME (SAS)

The SAS, re-approved by shareholders at the 2002 AGM, enables the Company to conserve cash by remunerating its employees 
and Directors in shares instead of cash.  Participation in the SAS was offered to all employees in respect of up to half of their 
remuneration on a quarterly basis, with elections to be made by employees during the first month of each quarter.  The issue 
price of the shares is equal to the weighted average price of GCR shares for the three months immediately preceding the issue 
date, rounded to the nearest cent.  Details of shares issued are set out in Note 14.

The total number of shares issued under the SAS and held in trust must not exceed 15% of the total number of GCR’s issued 
shares at any time, and those shares issued under the SAS in any year must not exceed 7.5% of the total number of GCR’s 
issued shares.

GOLDEN CROSS RESOURCES EMPLOYEE OPTION PLAN

The Golden Cross Resources Employee Option Plan was re-approved by shareholders at the 2003 AGM.  All full-time employees 
(including executive directors) of Golden Cross Resources Ltd and its controlled entity are eligible to participate in the plan.  
Employee options vest as follows: on date of grant, 10%; after 1 year, 30%; after 2 years, 60%; after 3 years, 100%.  Prior to 
November 2003 options vested as follows: on date of grant, nil; after 1 year, 10%; after 2 years, 25%; after 3 years, 45%; after 4 
years, 70%; and after 5 years, 100%.

Refer to Note 14 for details of options issued during the year.  The number of shares in respect of which options are on issue at 
any time must not exceed 5% of the issued capital of the Company at that time.
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Unissued ordinary shares of Golden Cross Resources Ltd under option at the date of this report include 7.6 million Director 
options exercisable at 15 cents by 30.11.2006, 1.25 million unquoted options exercisable at 12.5 cents by 1.1.06 and 3.675 
million employee options exercisable at 10 cents as follows:

Number Exercise Price Expiry Date

Golden Cross Resources Employee Option Plan Options 230,000 10 cents 18.12.2004
300,000 10 cents 29.06.2005
285,000 10 cents 22.12.2005
315,000 10 cents 27.06.2006
325,000 10 cents 21.12.2006
325,000 10 cents 28.06.2007
355,000 10 cents 20.12.2007
370,000 10 cents 25.06.2008
500,000 10 cents 11.11.2008
670,000 10 cents 17.08.2009

3,675,000

21.   RELATED PARTIES

Directors

Disclosures relating to directors are set out in Note 17.

Wholly Owned Group

The wholly-owned group consists of Golden Cross Resources Ltd and its wholly-owned controlled entities, Golden Cross 
Operations Pty Ltd and Challenger Gold Limited.  Ownership interests in these controlled entities are set out in Note 22. Golden 
Cross Resources Ltd is the ultimate parent entity.

Transactions between Golden Cross Resources Ltd and related parties in the wholly-owned group during the year ended 30 June 
2004 and 2003 consisted of:

• loans advanced by Golden Cross Resources Ltd; and

• loans repaid to Golden Cross Resources Ltd.

Aggregate amounts receivable from related parties in the wholly-owned group at balance date were as follows.  These loans are 
non-interest bearing:

PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Loans advanced to controlled entities 14,763 12,028

22.   INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Name of Entity Country 
of Incorp-

oration

Class of 
Shares

Cost of Parent 
Entity’s Investment

Equity Holding Contribution to 
Consolidated Operating 
Profit/(Loss) After Tax

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
%

2003 
%

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Parent Entity
Golden Cross Resources Ltd - - - - (232) (3,374)
Controlled Entities
Golden Cross Operations P/L Australia Ordinary - - 100 100 (73) (157)
Challenger Gold Limited Australia Ordinary - 950 100 100 - -

- 950

23.   SEGMENT INFORMATION

The economic entity operates in the one industry and in one geographical area, namely Australian mineral exploration, evaluation 
and development. The assets, liabilities and results of this entity are disclosed in the statements of financial position and 
statements of financial performance contained in these financial statements.
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24.   RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH INFLOW (OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES AFTER INCOME TAX

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Operating profit/(loss) (205) (4,905) (232) (3,374)
Depreciation and amortisation 22 10 - -
Consideration for termination of Strategic Alliance agreement 73 - 73 -
Write down of inter company receivable - - - 235
Write down of investment is subsidiary - 100 2,990
Exploration expenditure capitalised (1,749) (755) - -
Exploration and evaluation expenditure written off 1 231 - -
Provision for diminution of exploration properties - 4,288 - -
(Increase)/decrease in other debtors (19) (15) (3) (20)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 109 (181) 4 23
Increase/(decrease) in non current liability 17 - - -
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions 13 15 - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (1,738) (1,312) (58) (146)

25.   NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Consideration for termination of Strategic Alliance agreement 73 - 73 -
Acquisition of exploration tenements by means of share issue - 30 - -
Consideration for 5% interest in Challenger Joint Venture 300 - 300 -
Payment for PR and technical services by means of share issue - 176 - 176
Payments to directors and employees under Share Acquisition 
Scheme

50 76 - -

26.   EARNINGS PER SHARE
CONSOLIDATED

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Basic and diluted earnings per share (0.13) (4.215)

2004 
No of Shares

2003 
No of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year 
used in the calculation of basic earnings per share

162,127,464 116,034,032

2004 
$’000

2003 
$’000

Earnings used in calculating basic earnings per share (205) (4,905)

Options

Options granted to Directors and Employees are considered to be potential ordinary shares.  However, diluted earnings per share 
is the same as basic earnings per share as the potential ordinary shares would reduce the loss per share.  The options have not 
been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.  Details relating to the options are set out in Note 14.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
The Directors declare that the financial statements and notes set out on pages 18 - 38:

i.  Comply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and

ii.  Give a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2004 and of their 
performance, as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that 
date.

In the Directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

David Timms, Managing Director,

Sydney, 8 September 2004
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Independent audit report to the members of Golden Cross 
Resources Ltd

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757 

Darling Park Tower 2 
201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia

ww.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999

Audit opinion 

In our opinion, the financial report of Golden Cross Resources Ltd: 

• gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, of the financial position of Golden Cross 
Resources Ltd and the Golden Cross Resources Group (defined below) as at 30 June 2004, and of their performance for the 
year ended on that date, and 

• is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting 
requirements in Australia, and the Corporations Regulations 2001 

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report. 

Scope 

The financial report and directors’ responsibility 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of cash flows, 
accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for both Golden Cross Resources Ltd (the company) 
and the Golden Cross Resources Group (the consolidated entity), for the year ended 30 June 2004. The consolidated entity 
comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during that year. 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal 
controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent 
in the financial report. 

Audit approach 

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company. Our audit was conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of 
material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, 
the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit 
cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected. 

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is 
consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as 
represented by the results of their operations and cash flows. 

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included: 

• examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial report, 
and 

• assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors. 

When this audit report is included in an Annual Report, our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to 
determine whether it contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report. 

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and 
extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls. 

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management.

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers  Peter Buchholz

 Partner

Sydney

9 September 2004 

Liability is limited by the Accountant’s Scheme under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW) 
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At 9 September 2004.  All tenements are in NSW, with the exception of Laverton, which is in WA.

PROPERTY 
NAME

TENEMENT 
NAME

TENEMENT 
(1)

AREA 
(sq km)

HOLDER 
(2)

PERCENT 
HOLDING

JOINT VENTURE 
PARTNER (2)

Adelong Challenger ML 1435 1.5 CGL 100
Batlow EL 5728 80 CGL 100 
Batlow South EL 5995 110 GCO 100
Mineral Claims 13 MCs Held in trust for GCR by GCR, GCO and employees

Kempfield Kempfield EL 5748 120 GCO 100 
Bean Lease PLL 519 0.66 ha GCO 100
Henrys’ Leases ML 4870, PLL 

517, 727, & 728
2.4 ha GCO Option Option to purchase 

100% for $300,000.
Kempfield Group 2 EL 5645 8 GCO 100

Broken Hill Broken Hill EL 5784 140 GCO 100 Sipa (3)
Mount Darling Creek EL 5772 282 GCO 100 Sipa (3)
Little Darling Creek MC 159 2 ha GCO 100 Sipa (3)
Thackaringa EL 6086 48 GCO 100 Sipa (3)
Corruga EL 6109 31 GCO 100 Sipa (3)
Farmcote EL 6110 3 GCO 100 Sipa (3)
Broken Hill Cons. ELA 2389 463 GCO 100 Sipa (3)
Sisters EL 6143 3 GCO 100
Sisters Cons. ELA 2387 35 GCO 100
Thackaringa Cons. ELA 2388 58 GCO 100

Copper Hill Copper Hill EL 2290 26 GCO 100
Copper Hill West EL 5722 46 GCO 100
Copper Hill East ELA 2323 23 GCO 100

West Wyalong West Wyalong EL 5915 231 GCO 100 (4)
Cargo Cargo EL 5238 60 GCO 100 Falcon (5)

Belubula EL 6084 423 Falcon 100 Falcon (5)
Yellow Mountain Yellow Mountain EL 5721 290 GCO 49 Triako (6)

Melrose EL 5787 55 GCO 49 Triako (6)
Yellow Mtn Cons. ELA 2390 365 GCO/Triako 49

Cobar Region Wagga Tank EL 5130 165 GCO 100
Pipeline/Canbelego EL 5842 216 GCO 100 (7)
Wyuna Downs EL 6208 332 GCO 100
Belah Tank EL 6216 47 GCO 100

Parkes Parkes EL 6087 261 GCO 100 (8)
McPhails Former ML 1387 13 ha GCO 90 (9)
Trewilga EL 6195 52 GCO 100 (10)

South Gilmore Gundagai EL 5791 28 GCO 100 
Mt Adrah EL 5889 51 GCO 100
Eurongilly EL 5814 104 GCO 100
Basin Creek EL 6164 53 GCO 100
Nangus ELA 2367 733 GCO 100
Dobroyde EL 5832 17 GCO 100 (11)

Eastern NSW Breadalbane ELA 2056 147 GCO 100
Sunny Corner EL 5964 104 GCO 100
Sunny Corner South EL 6160 20 GCO 100
Portland EL 6205 23 GCO 100

ROYALTIES ROYALTY TYPE
Laverton Merolia E 38/970 25 A1 Minerals Royalty 2% gross production.
McPhails McPhails EL 5830 1 Alkane Royalty (12) Up to 5% nsr.

Notes (1)  Full titles for abbreviations in Tenement column are as follows:
  EL or E Exploration Licence
  ELA Exploration Licence Application
  ML Mining Lease
  MC Mineral Claim
  PLL Private Lands Lease
 (2) Full Names for abbreviated names of Tenement Holders and Joint Venture Partners are as follows:
  A1 Minerals A1 Minerals Limited
  Alkane Alkane Exploration Limited
  CGL Challenger Gold Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Golden Cross Resources
  Falcon Falcon Minerals Limited
  GCO Golden Cross Operations Pty Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Golden Cross Resources
  Sipa Sipa Exploration NL
  Triako Triako Resources Limited
 (3) Sipa may earn a 70% interest in Broken Hill tenements by completing a bankable feasibility study by 2.5.2008.
 (4) Subject to 2.5% net smelter return royalty held by Lac Minerals (Australia) NL, subsidiary of Barrick Gold Corp.
 (5) Falcon may earn a 70% interest in Cargo tenements by spending $3 million by 3.9.2006.  GCO holds a 100% equitable interest in EL6084.
 (6) Triako may earn up to a 70% interest in Yellow Mountain tenements by spending $1.3 million by 19.10.2005. Triako has earned 51% to date.  GCO holds a 2%  
  nsr royalty over EL5721.
 (7) Various portions are subject to a 10% free carried interest held by Metallic Resources P/L, a 5% net profits interest payable to Nosebi Mining & Management  
  P/L and a 5% net profits interest payable to Polymetals P/L.
 (8) Sipa and Michelago Limited each hold 0.5% NSR  over a portion of the tenement.
 (9) GCO holds a 90% equitable interest in the area of former ML 1387 “McPhails”, consisting of 13 hectares.  Metallic Resources Pty Ltd holds a 10% free carried  
  interest.
 (10) Elephant Mines Pty Ltd holds a 2% NSR.
 (11) GCR 100%.  Newcrest retains a royalty and a back-in right.
 (12) GCO holds a royalty of 75 cents/tonne (first 0.5 Mt), then 3% net smelter return (to 150,000 ounces), then 5% net smelter return.  GCO’s royalty interest is   
  subject  to a 10% free carried interest held by Metallic Resources Pty Ltd.

INTERESTS IN MINING TENEMENTS



The shareholder information set out below was correct at 9 September 2004.

Shareholder Information

A. Distribution of Shares

        Holding Range Holders Total Held %

1 - 1,000 18 11,711 0.01

1,001 - 5,000 195 813,976 0.44

5,001 - 10,000 195 1,697,157 0.92

10,001 - 100,000 643 30,729,041 16.59

100,001 + 336 151,986,158 82.05

Total 1,387 185,238,043 100.00

b) There were 424 holders of less than a marketable parcel of fully paid shares (less than $500 worth) based on 
the closing price of 4.3 cents per share.

c) The twenty largest shareholders held 37.68% of the shares on issue.
d) There were 3.675 million employee options on issue (ex. 10 cents by 17.8.2009 – see page 37 for details), 

held by five employees.
e) There were 7.6 million directors’ options on issue (ex. 15 cents by 30.11.2006).
f) There were 1.25 million unquoted public options on issue, held by Darmal Pty Ltd (ex. 12.5 cents by 

1.1.2006).

B. RESTRICTED SECURITIES
The Company had no restricted securities on issue.  The Company has 1 million shares subject to voluntary escrow, 
held by Orchid Capital Limited.

C. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
The only substantial shareholder in the Company is as follows:

Name No. of Shares Held %

David Timms 18,121,289* 9.8

D. VOTING RIGHTS
One vote for each ordinary share held in accordance with the Company’s Constitution.  Options do not carry voting 
rights.

E. TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
The names of the twenty largest registered holders of fully paid ordinary shares are listed below:

Name No. Held %
1 David Timms 15,837,739 8.55
2 Metallic Resources Pty Ltd 5,537,719 2.99
3 Forbar Custodians Limited 4,919,782 2.66
4 Mr John Dennis Quirk 4,722,500 2.55
5 Aurcay Holdings Inc 4,600,000 2.48
6 Piranha Nominees Pty Ltd 3,750,000 2.02
7 Golden Cross Plan Managers 3,616,774 1.95
8 Sipa Resources International NL 3,000,000 1.62
9 Cyprus Amax Australia 2,695,556 1.46
10 Mr Robert Cameron Galbraith 2,600,150 1.40
11 Tasman Asset Management Ltd 2,599,000 1.40
12 Mr Erwin John Clayton 2,548,050 1.38
13 Mr Arnold & Mrs Ruth Getz <Super Fund A/c> 2,534,219 1.37
14 ANZ Nominees Limited 2,448,984 1.32
15 Mr Arnold & Mrs Ruth Getz 2,007,964 1.08
16 Ledge Finance Ltd 2,000,000 1.08
17 Mr Colin Glanville Young 2,000,000 1.08
18 Mr John William Meredith 1,962,500 1.06
19 Stadjoy Pty Ltd 1,712,500 0.92
20 Mr Albert Morris 1,475,000 0.80

TOTAL 69,789,212 37.68

Note  *David Timms’ substantial shareholding includes relevant interests in shares held by Golden Cross Plan 
Managers and Jennifer Timms, and differs from his registered shareholding.
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